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Our operations could be adversely impacted by inflation, primarily from higher material, labor, and construction costs. To date,
we do not believe that inflation has had a material impact to our results of operations, capital resources or liquidity, however, we
have experienced increases in prices of raw materials, components and labor costs. Our future mitigation strategies may include
considering alternative vendors, vertically integrating certain aspects of our supply chain and redesigning our product or
production process. At this time, it is difficult to determine what impact these inflationary pressures will have on our long- term
growth strategies, as there is uncertainty regarding how long higher levels of inflation may persist, and to what level we will be
successful in passing these increased costs to our customers upon commercialization of our preduet-technelogy . If we are not
able to fully offset higher costs through price increases or other corrective measures, this may adversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations. Foreign Currency Risk Our functional currency is the U. S. dollar, while certain of
our future subsrdrarres may have other functronal currencies, reﬂectmg their prmClpal operatlng markets. Onee-we-eommenee

W osed h rrrisk-To date, we have not had material
exposure to forelgn currency ﬂuctuatrons and have not hedged such exposure, although we may do so in the future. Item 8.
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data. INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTSReport of
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (PCAOB ID No. 42) Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2024
and 2023 and2022-Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income ( Loss ) for the Years ended December
31,2024, 2023 ;-and 2022 and-202+-Consolidated Statements of Redeemable Non- Controlling Interest and Stockholders’
Equity for the Years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 ;-and 2022 and-282+-Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the
Years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 ;-and 2022 and2024-Notes to Consolidated Financial StatementsTo the Shareholders and
the Board of Directors of QuantumScape Corporation Opinion on the Financial Statements-StatementsWe We-have audited the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets of QuantumScape Corporation (the Company) as of December 31, 2024 and 2023
and2022-, the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss), redeemable non- controlling
interest and stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2623-2024 , and
the related notes (collectively referred to as the ““ consolidated financial statements ™). In our opinion, the consolidated financial
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2024 and 2023 and
2622-, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2623
2024 , in conformity with U. S. generally accepted accounting principles. We also have audited, in accordance with the
standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company' s internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2023-2024 , based on criteria established in Internal Control —— Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework), and our report dated
February 2726 , 2824-2025 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon. Basis for Opinion These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company' s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’ s financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent
with respect to the Company in accordance with the U. S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the
Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the
PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that
respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion. Critical Audit Matter The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from
the current period audit of the financial statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit
committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our
especially challenging, subjective or complex judgments. The communication of the critical audit matter does not alter in any
way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit
matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.
Accounting for the performance- based equity awards (Extraordinary Performance Award Program and Performance- based
Stock Units) — stock- based compensationDescription of the Matter As discussed in Note 2 and Note 9-8 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Company granted stock options to the Chief Executive Officer at the time and other members of the
Company’ s management team pursuant to the Extraordinary Performance Award Program “ EPA Program ” in December 2021
and December 2022. The EPA program vests upon the achievement of performance (business milestones) and market (stock
price target) conditions under five tranches. Additionally, as discussed in Note 9-2 and Note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Company granted performance- based restricted stock units (“ PSUs ) to members of the Company’ s
management team and certain other employees in the year-years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024 . The PSUs vest upon the
achievement of performance (business milestones) conditions by tranche. When the Company determines achievement of the
related performance condition is considered probable then the stock- based compensation expense is recognized over the
expected vesting period which is for the EPA Program the longer of the time to achieve the performance or market condition for




each tranche, and for the PSUs the time to achieve the performance condition for each tranche assuming the service condition
has also been met. The Company recorded stock- based compensation expense-credit of $ 26-13 . 3-4 million during the year-
ended December 31, 2023-2024 and had $ 32-7 . 2-9 million of unrecognized stock- based compensation expense as of
December 31, 2823-2024 for the tranches that were considered probable for EPA awards. The Company recorded stock- based
compensation expense of § +5-24 . 8-3 million during the year- ended December 31, 2623-2024 and had $ 4713 . 3-5 million of
unrecognized stock- based compensation expense as of December 31, 2823-2024 for the tranches that were considered probable
for PSU awards. Auditing the Company’ s accounting for the EPA Program and PSU awards is complex and judgmental due to
the subjectivity of management’ s assessment of the probability and timing of performance conditions being met for each
tranche of the award. How We Addressed the Matter in Our Audit We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design, and
tested the operating effectiveness of controls over the Company’ s assessment of the probability and timing of performance
conditions being met. Our substantive audit procedures included, among others, evaluation of the judgments made by
management in determining the estimated probability and timing of each performance condition by discussing status with
internal operational personnel and comparing the achievement of the business milestones to the Company’ s annual plan. /s /
Ernst & Young LLP We have served as the Company’ s auditor since 2012. San Jose, California Febraary27-2624-Opinion on
Internal Control Over Financial Reperting-ReportingWe We-have audited QuantumScape Corporation’ s internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2623-2024 , based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). In
our opinion, QuantumScape Corporation (the Company) maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2023-2024 , based on the COSO criteria. We also have audited, in accordance with the
standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the 2623-2024 consolidated financial
statements of the Company and our report dated February 2726 , 2824-2025 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon. The
Company’ s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment
of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’ s Report on Internal
Centrel-Controls Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’ s internal control over
financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be
independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U. S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. We conducted our audit in accordance with the
standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining
an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion. Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting A company’ s internal control over financial
reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A
company’ s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2)
provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’ s assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not
prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate. (In Thousands Except per Share Arnounts) As of December 31, Assets Current assets Cash and
cash equivalents €$ 3-140 , 866 el ptare)-$ 142, 524
$235:393-Marketable securities 769, 901 928 284 -8%6—349—Prepa1d expenses and other current assets 11 519 12,709 +6;-59+
Total current assets 922,286 1, 083, 517 5-672;324-Property and equipment, net 299, 992 313, 164 295;-934-Right- of- use
assets- finance lease 22, 267 25, 140 28;043-Right- of- use assets- operating lease 51, 472 55, 863 66;#82-Other assets 26, 378
24,294 48;353-Total assets $ 1, 564322 , 978395 § 1, 475-501 , 486-978 Liabilitics, redeemable non- controlling interest and
stockholders” equity Current liabilities Accounts payable $ 6,466 $ 12, 959 $24,426-Accrued liabilities 17, 447 10, 180 474
Accrued compensation and benefits 32, 212 26, 043 43;-86+Operating lease liability, short- term 5, 526 5, 006 3;4#8-Finance
lease liability, short- term 3, 233 2, 907 +;373-Total current liabilities 64, 884 57, 095 46;-869-Operating lease liability, long-
term 52, 913 57, 622 62:-566-Finance lease liability, long- term 31, 865 35, 098 38;-065-Other liabilities 14, 886 11, 986 8;48%
Total liabilities 164, S48 161, 801 +55;-862-Commitment and contingencies (see Note 7) Redeemable non- controlling interest
— 1, 770 ;764-Stockholders’ equity Preferred stock- $ 0. 0001 par value; 100, 000 shares authorized, none issued and
outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 ard-2022— — Common stock- $ 0. 0001 par value; 1, 250, 000 shares
authorized (1, 000, 000 Class A and 250, 000 Class B); 487, 883 Class A and 54, 666 Class B shares issued and outstanding
as ofDecember 31, 2024, 433, 157 Class A and 59, 874 Class B shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2023 ;358;
3 ; -Additional paid- in- capital 4, 515, 879
4,221,892 3—7—7—1—1—8—1—Accurnulated other comprehenswe loss (2 877) (—1—7—87-3)—Accurnulated deficit ( 3,358, 514) ( 2, 880,
657 -)-62—435%—1—2—) Total stockholders’ equity 1, 157, 847 1, 338, 407 +531+%-846-Total liabilities, redeemable non- controlling
interest and stockholders’ equity $ 1, 564-322 , 9—7’-8—395 $ 1, 475501 , 466-978 The accompanying notes are an integral part of




these consolidated financial statements. €en 6 v
Thousands, Except per Share Amounts) Year Ended December 31, Operatlng expenses: Re@eareh and development $382,9718
347,945 $ 297, 435 $451,496-General and administrative 142, 236 131, 085 123, 183 63;778-Total operating expenses 525,
207 479, 030 420, 618 245;266-Loss from operations ( 525, 207) (479, 030) (420, 618 H245;7266-) Other income (loss):
Interest expense (2, 224) (2 377) (2 399 )—6—4-1-9—) Interest income 46, 024 36, 488 10, 905 +-883-Change-infair-value-of

d 674-Other income (loss) 3, 465 (160) Total other income Hessy-47, 265
33 951 8, 722 -1-69—2-89—Net 109@ ( 477 942) (445, 079) (411, 896 345;977) Less: Net (loss) income dessy-attributable to non-
controlling interest, net of tax of $ 0 (4485 ) Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ ( 477, 857) $ (445, 145) § (411,
907 ¥$-45;966-) Net loss $ (477, 942) $ (445,079) $ (411, 896 3$45;977) Other comprehensive income (loss): Unrealized
gain (loss) on marketable securities 3, 305 14, 996 (13, 665 H4;+4FF) Total comprehensive loss ( 474, 637) (430, 083) (425,
561 H56;454-) Less: Comprehensive (loss) income fessy-attributable to non- controlling interest (4+4+85 ) Comprehensive loss
attributable to common stockholders § (474, 552) $ (430, 149) $ (425, 572) $56, 143y Netdoss-persharc-efeommon-stock
attributable-to-common-steekholders-Basic and $0-96)-356-951-$501H-Diluted $6-96)-5(0-951-$(0-52) Weighted-
average-shares-tsed-Hreomputingnet loss per share of$ (0. 94) $ (0. 96) $ (0. 95) Basic and Diluted weighted- average
common steekBaste-shares outstanding 508, 102 462, 239 432, 973 464;259-Diluted-462,239-432,-973-409--569-(In

Thousands) Redeemable Non- Controlling Common Stock AdditionalPaid- In Accumulated Accumulated OtherComprehensive
TotalStockholders’ Interest Shares Amount Capital Deficit Income (Loss) Equity Balance as of December 31, 2626-2021 $ 1,
F64-363-693 428 , 994-319 § $ 3, 634, 665 $ (2, 325-023 , 466-605) S ( 4,208) $ 1, 577606 , 8956%9)—$—(—3—H—$—35—1—7—7—2—
Exercise of stock option and employee stock purchase plan — +6-4 , 62047343 — 7 , 779555 — — 477 , ##9-555 Shares
19§ued upon Vestlng of re%tneted stock units — 5, 92—7—297 1, 851 — ——E*efetse—ef—waffa—n’fs—lé,—497—67—2,—454—

-tssua-nee—eesfs—ef—$—9—l ﬁa-l-l-l-teﬂ—lé— 852 22—1—99—92—8—99—939—Stock based compenqatlon _ 52—127 -1—75—1 10 —
— 52—127 +75-110 Net income ( 109@ H) 45—411 566907 ) — ( 45—411 966—907 ) Unreahzed loqs on malketable

13 665)(13

665) Balanee as of December 31, 2022 $1,704 437 959 $ $ 3, 771 181 $ (2 435 512) $ (17 873) $ 1, 317, 840 Exercise of

ares issued upon vesting of restricted stock

units —9,637 —— — — — Issuance ofcommon stoek, net of issuance costs of $ 11. 8 million — 37, 500 288, 150 — —
288, 154 Stock-

145) Unrealized gain on marketable securities — — — — — 14, 996 14, 996 Balance as of December 31, 2023 $ 1, 770 493,
031$$4,221,892$ (2, 880,657)$(2,877) $ 1, 338, 407 Exercise of stock options and employee stock purchase plan — 9,
996 — 20, 091 — — 20, 091 Shares issued upon vesting of restricted stock units — 14, 575 23, 107 — — 23, 109 Shares
issued under At- The- Market Offering, net of issuance costs — 24, 947 128, 439 — — 128, 442 Stock- based
compensation — — — 122, 350 — — 122, 350 Net loss (85) — — — (477, 857) — (477, 857) Unrealized gain on
marketable securities — — — — — 3, 305 3, 305 Dissolution of joint venture (1, 685) — — — — —— Balance as of

December 31,2024 $ — 542,549 $ $ 4,515,879 $ (3,358,514) $ $ 1, 157, 847 Year Ended December 31, Operating activities
Net loss $ (477, 942) $ (445, 079) $ (411, 896 3$-45;977) Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating
activities: Depreciation and amortization 57, 781 41, 958 28, 280 +H5267Amortization of right- of- use assets and non- cash
lease expense 8,010 7, 791 7, 843 3—492—Am0rtlzat10n of premiums and accretion of discounts on marketable securities ( 29,
313) (18, 908) 3, 989 H5845-Stock- based compensation expense 144, 653 166, 297 127, 110 524#5-Change-in-fair-valae-of
assuﬂied—eeﬂameﬁ-steel&w&ff&&t—habﬂ*ﬁes—&éS—é%—erte off of property and equipment 13, 347 21, 528 13, 695 —
Other Changes in operating assets and liabilities: Prepaid expenses and other current assets and other assets (893) (7, 533) 5,
048 (45-852-Accounts payable, accrued liabilities and accrued compensation and benefits 14, 965 (2, 904) 5, 611 -1-3—1—7-8—9t-he1=
tong—termhabilittes{(234)2;-300—O0perating lease liability ( 5, 059) ( 3, 410) (844) Other liabilities ( 213 +;262-) (234) 2,
300 Net cash used in operating activities ( 274, 555) (240, 025) (218, 024 3J32%-969-) Investing activities Purchases of property
and equipment ( 62, 131) ( 84, 510) (158, 845 H42H++8-) Proceeds from maturities of marketable securities 1, 484, 857 1, 041,
528 837, 410 894:225-Proceeds from sales of marketable securities 1, 245 1, 477 15, 105 224;-658-Purchases of marketable
securities (1,295,102) (1, 111, 027) (569, 551 3H4537#6;939-) Net cash fused-+m-provided by (used in) investing activities 128,
869 (152, 532) 124,119 (—385—8349—F1nancmg activities Proceeds from exercise of stock options and employee stock purchase
plan 20, 091 14 0229, 407 4—7—7—79—Pfeeeeds—ffeﬁ+exefetse-e-ﬁw&fr&nts—1§{—43-l—Proceed@ from issuance of common

Gembm&ﬁeﬁ—ﬁet—e-ﬁtssﬂaﬂe&eesfs—p&td—ﬂ—eﬁprmelpal payment f01 flnanee le"lie ( 2,907) ( 1, 973) (809) 5
Dissolution of joint venture (1 , 567-685) — — Net cash provided by financing activities 144, 028 300 213 8, 598 736557
Net increase (decrease) tnerease-in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash ( 1, 658) (92, 344) (85, 307) 222;-8+4-Cash, cash
equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period 160, 572 252, 916 338, 223 +45;-409-Cash, cash equivalents and restricted
cash at end of period $ 158,914 $ 160, 572 $ 252,916 $—3—3-8%2—3—Supplemental disclosure ot Caqh ﬂow 1nform"lt10n Cash paid
for interest $ 2,224 $ 1, 778 $ 1, 610 $F= ssumed-e

of property and equipment, not yet paid $ 3, 249 $ 10 554 $ 18 192 -$—1—1—97-3—The followmg table preqentﬂ the Company S
cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash by category in the Company’ s Consolidated Balance Sheets (amounts in thousands):



December 31, Cash and cash equivalents $ 140, 866 $ 142, 524 $ 235, 393 $326;700-Other assets 18, 048 +7-18 , 523-048 17,
523 Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $ 158, 914 $ 160, 572 $ 252, 916 $338;223-Note 1. Nature of Business
Organization The original QuantumScape Corporation, now named QuantumScape Battery, Inc. (“ Legacy QuantumScape ), a
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company (as defined below), was founded in 2010 with the mission to revolutionize energy
storage to enable a sustainable future. In OaNoevember25;-2020 (the—ClosingDate-?)-, Kensington-Capital-AeguisittonrCorp-
QuantumScape became a publicly traded company (iKeﬂsmgteﬁiNYSE QS )—through a business combination with a
special purpose acquisition company ; A emerittnamed Kensington Capital
Acquisition Corp. (“ Kensington ) Whlch changed its name to QuantumScape Corporatlon upon closmg in November
2020 (the “ Business Comblnatlon Agfeen&eﬁt—”) arted vierg b
Corp-. -As a result Delaws ; Stig
Quaﬁ-fuﬁi—Sea-pe—PﬂfSﬂaﬂt—te-t-h&tems—ofthe Bu%lneiq Comblnatlon Ag-feemeﬂt—

and—]:egaey—QuantumScape Battery Inc surv1ved was—effeefed—fhfettg%rfhe—&wfgeﬁf—MergePSﬁb—wﬁh—and became into

---------- a Wholly owned %ub%ldlary of

3 5 A-the strg-Da e Company
). The Company is focuqed on the development and commercmhzatlon of its solid- state lithium- metal batteries. Planned
principal operations have not yet commenced. As of December 31, 2023-2024 , the Company had not derived revenue from its
principal business activities. Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies Basis of Presentation The Company’ s
consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America (“ U. S. GAAP ”) as determined by the Financial Accounting Standards Board ( the “ FASB ) Accounting
Standards Codification (“ ASC ) and pursuant to the regulations of the U. S. Securities and Exchange Commission ( the “ SEC
) . Certain prior period balances have been reclassified to conform to the current period presentation in the consolidated
financial statements and the accompanying notes . The Company’ s policy is to consolidate all entities that it controls by
ownership of a majority of the outstanding voting stock. In addition, the Company consolidates entities that meet the definition
of a variable interest entity (“ VIE ) for which the Company is the related party most closely associated with and is the primary
beneficiary. The primary beneficiary is the party who has the power to direct the activities of a VIE that most significantly
impact the entity’ s economic performance and who has an obligation to absorb losses of the entity or a right to receive benefits
from the entity that could potentially be significant to the entity. For consolidated entities that are less than wholly owned, the
third party’ s holding of an equity interest is presented as redeemable non- controlling interests in the Company’ s Consolidated
Balance Sheets and Consolidated Statements of Redeemable Non- Controlling Interest and Stockholders” Equity. The portion of
net earnings (loss) attributable to the redeemable non- controlling interests is presented as net income (loss) attributable to non-
controlling interests in the Company’ s Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss). Since 2012,
the Company has had a relationship with the Volkswagen Group, including its affiliates Volkswagen Group of America,
Inc. (“ VWGoA ) and Volkswagen Group of America Investments, LLC (“ VGA ), collectively referred to as “
Volkswagen. ” Legacy QuantumScape was a single- legal entity prior to becoming a partner with Volkswagen in QSV
Operations LLC (“ QSV ). As noted in the section titled ““ Joint Venture and Redeemable Non- Controlling Interest ” below,
Legacy QuantumScape determined QSV was a VIE for which it was required to consolidate the operations upon its formation in
2018 —and the Company continued to consolidate the operatlons of QSV in its financlal statements Fe-l-}ewrng—followmg
the clo%lng of the Bu%lneiq Combination until 5-the y e €Ot 6
SV tn—t-he—ye&r—eﬂded—Beeefnbeﬁ-l—ZG%—as—was t-he—de’eefnﬂﬁat-teﬂ—dlssolved in September
2024 (See Note 10 Joint Venture and Redeemable Non- Controlling Interest). The dissolution and deconsolidation of
QSYV had an immaterial impact on the ¥HE-Company' s consolidated financial statements. Following the dissolution of
QSYV, the Company no longer has netehanged-any interest in any VIEs . All intercompany accounts and transactions are
eliminated in consolidation. Use of Estimates 63-QuantumScape CorporationNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements —
Continued December 31, 2023Fhe-2024 The preparation of financial statements in accordance with U. S. GAAP requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
commitments and contingencies at the date of the financial statements as well as reported amounts of expenses during the
reportlng penods Emmateq made by the Company include, but are not limited to, those related to the valuation of eemmen
Of-t6 3 A wards under the Extraordinary Performance Award Program (the
EPA Plogram )5 —and Vaw}uaﬁen—the determlnatlon of Assumed-Common-business milestone achievement dates related to
Steekstock Warrants-awards with performance conditions, among others. The Company bases these estimates on historical
experience and on various other assumptions that it believes are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form
the basis for making judgments about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates. Joint Venture and Redeemable Non- Controlling
InterestQSV was 1ncorporated as a limited liability company in 2018. Welkswagen-Group-ofAmertea; Tne~(—VWG0A 2,

5 “VGA Zrand Legacy QuantumScape executed a Joint Venture Agreement (
as amended, the “ JVA ”), effective September 2018, with the goal of jointly establishing a manufacturing facility to produce
the pilot line of the Company’ s product through QSV. In connection with this agreement, the parties also kawe-entered into two
operating agreements: (i) the Limited Liability Company Agreement of QSV to govern the respective rights and obligations as
members of QSV and (ii) the Common IP License Agreement for the Company to license certain intellectual property pertaining
to automotive battery cells as defined in the JVA to VWGo0A, VGA and QSV. Volkswagen is a related party stockholder
(approximately 24. 0 % and24-5% voting interest holder of the Company as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023
and-2022- respectively). Upon the effectiveness of the JVA, each party contributed $ 1. 7 million in cash to capitalize QSV in




exchange for 50 % equity interests. The joint venture is-was considered a VIE with a related party and therefore the related party
whose business is-was more closely related to the planned operations of the joint venture #s-was required to consolidate the
operations. The Company determined its operations were most closely aligned with the operations of the joint venture and
therefore has-consolidated the results of QSV’ s operations in its Consolidated Balance Sheets, Consolidated Statements of
Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss), and Consolidated Statements of Redeemable Non- Controlling Interest and
Stockholders” Equity . On July 5, 2024, the Company, QS, VWGoA, VGA, and QSV (the “ JV Entity ), entered into a
Joint Venture Termination and Release Agreement (the “ JV Termination Agreement ) to, among other things,
terminate the JVA, dissolve the JV Entity, and remove earmark restrictions on $ 134. 0 million of funds previously
reserved by the Company for future contribution to the JV Entity that automatically terminated pursuant to the terms
of the JVA. QSV was subsequently dissolved in September 2024. As part of the dissolution of QSV, $ 1. 8 million of
redeemable non- controlhng interest was dlstrlbuted in cash to VGA QSV had mrnrmal operatronq through Beeerﬁber%-l—

fFe—date —‘vle{-kﬁv&geﬁ—has—net—m-fefmed—us—of dlssolutlon arry—mteﬂ&eﬁ—te-e*eferse—ﬁs—put-ﬂghfs- Concentratrom of Credit Rr%k

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents and
marketable securities. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023 aad2022-, approximately $ 78. 7 million and $ 115. 8 mithonand$
407 —4-million of our total cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities, are held in U. S. money market funds, and $ 695.
5 million and $ 723. 9 mithenand-$-610--5-million are invested in U. S. government and agency securities, respectively. The
Company seeks to mitigate its credit risk with respect to cash and cash equivalent@ and marketable securities by making deposits
with what we believe to be large, reputable financial 1n§t1tut10n§ and 1nve§t1ng in high Credrt rated shorter- term instruments.

Cash Equrvalentq and Restricted Cash Management considers all hrghly hquld investments with orrgrnal maturme% of three
months or less to be cash equivalents. Restricted cash is maintained under an agreement that legally restricts the use of such
funds and is reported within other assets as the date of availability or disbursement for all restricted cash is more than one year
from December 31, 2023-2024 . Restricted cash is comprised of § 18. 0 million and-$37F-5-mtHten-as of both December 31,
2023-2024 and December 31, 2022-2023 srespeetively, all of which is pledged as a form of security for the Company”’ s leaie
agreements for its headqttaﬁers—&ﬂd—pfe—-pﬁet—m&ﬂ&faef&ﬂﬁg—fac1htre% The restricted cash is maintained in a-eettifteate
certificates of depestt-deposits as of December 31, 2023-2024 . Marketable Securities The Company’ s investment policy is
consistent with the definition of available- for- sale securities. The Company does not buy and hold securities principally for the
purpose of selling them in the near future. The Company’ s policy is focused on the preservation of capital, liquidity, and return.
From time to time, the Company may sell certain securities, but the objectives are generally not to generate profits on short- term
differences in price. These securities are carried at estimated fair value with unrealized gains and losses included in other
comprehensive gain / loss in stockholders’ equity until realized. Gains and losses on marketable security transactions are
reported on the specific- identification method. Dividend and interest income are recognized when earned. Fair Value
Measurement The Company applies fair value accounting for all financial assets and liabilities measured on a recurring and
nonrecurring basis. Fair value is defined as an exit price, representing the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. As such, fair value is a
market- based measurement that should be determined based on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an
asset or a liability. The accounting guidance established a fair value hierarchy based on three levels of inputs, of which the first
two are considered observable and the last unobservable, used to determine the fair value of its financial instruments. A
financial instrument’ s level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that is significant to the fair
value measurement. ¢ Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity has the ability to
access. ¢ Level 2 — Inputs other than Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar
assets or liabilities, quoted prices in markets that are not active, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by
observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets and liabilities. * Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that are
supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets and liabilities. Property and
Equipment Property and equipment are recorded at historical cost, less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed
using the straight- line method over the estimated useful life of the related asset. Improvements that increase functionality of the
fixed asset are capitalized and depreciated over the asset’ s remaining useful life. Deposits for purchases of property and



equipment are included in construction- in- progress. Construction- in- progress is not depreciated until the asset is placed in
service. Fully depreciated assets are retained in property and equipment, net, until removed from service. The Company
reviews the estimated useful lives of its fixed assets on an ongoing basis. The estimated useful lives of assets are generally as
follows: Computer equipment, hardware, and software 3- 5 yearsFurniture and fixtures 7- 10 yearsMachinery and equipment 3-
10 yearsLeasehold 1mpr0vement§ Shorter of the lease term (1nclud1ng estlmated renewals) or the estlmated useful lives of the
improvements 6 ; ; ; B
2023 Impairment—--- Impalrment of Long- leed Assets The Company evaluatei the carrying value of long- hved dsgets when
indicators of impairment exist. The carrying value of a long- lived asset is considered impaired when the estimated separately
identifiable, undiscounted cash flows from such an asset are less than the carrying value of the asset. In that event, a loss is
recognized based on the amount by which the carrying value exceeds the fair value of the long- lived asset. The long- lived
assets outside of U. S. are not material as of December 31, 2623-2024 . During the year ended December 31, 2024 and the year
ended December 31, 2023, the Company wrote off approximately $ 13. 3 million and $ 21. 5 million of property and
equipment for assets with no remaining future benefit , respectively . During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company
wrote off approximately $ 13. 7 million of equipment and incurred cancellation charges of approximately $ 2. 8 million. These
charges are recorded in Research and Development expense 1n the Consohdated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive
Income (Loss) —Fh vl ; ; . Leases The
Company classifies arrangements meeting the dehnltlon of a lease as operating or hnancmg leases and le"lies are recorded on
the Consolidated Balance Sheets as both a right- of- use (“ ROU ) asset and lease liability, calculated by discounting fixed lease
payments over the lease term at the rate implicit in the lease or the Company’ s incremental borrowing rate which is the rate
incurred to borrow on a collateralized basis over a similar term. Lease liabilities are increased by interest and reduced by
payments each period, and the ROU asset is reduced over the lease term. For operating leases, interest on the lease liability and
the non- cash lease expense result in straight- line rent expense over the lease term. For finance leases, interest on the lease
liability and the amortization of the ROU asset results in front- loaded expense over the lease term. Variable lease expenses,
including common maintenance fees, insurance and property tax, are recorded when incurred. In calculating the right- of- use
asset dnd lease llablhty the Company elects to combine lease and non- lease components for all classes of assets, and elects to

years-. Segments Operatlng segments are dehned as components of an entlty for Wthh separate hnanClal 1nform"lt10n is
available and that is regularly reviewed by the Chief Operating Decision Maker ( the “ CODM ”) in deciding how to allocate
resources to an individual segment and in assessing performance. The Company’ s CODM is its Chief Executive Officer. The
Company has determined that it operates in one operating segment and one reportable segment, as the CODM reviews financial
information presented on a consolidated basis . The operating segment has not derived revenue from its business activities
as of December 31, 2024. The CODM uses net loss for purposes of making operating decisions, allocating resources, and
evaluating financial performance . Significant expenses include non- cash stock- based compensation, depreciation and
amortization, and write- off of property and equipment, which are reflected in the Consolidated Statement of Cash
Flows for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022. Significant expenses also include personnel costs of $ 153.
1 million, $ 135. 3 million, and $ 131. 2 million, respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022; and
professional services and legal contingency of $ 58. 6 million, $ 27. 2 million and $ 27. 0 million, respectively, for the
years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022. Other expenses include materials, facilities, other research,
development, and administrative expenses, which are recorded within operating expenses. Other segment items included
in consolidated net loss are interest income, interest expense, and other income (loss), which are reflected in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023
and 2022. The long- lived assets outside of U. S. are not material as of December 31, 2024. The measure of segment assets
is reported on the balance sheet as total consolidated assets. Refer to the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,
2024 and 2023 for total consolidated assets . Rescarch and Development Cost Costs related to research and development are
expensed as incurred. General and Administrative Expenses 66 8 G
Statements—Continued-Deeember3+20623General----- General and ddmmlindtwe expenses represent costs 1ncu1red by the
Company in managing the business, including salary, benefits, incentive compensation, marketing, insurance, professional fees
and other operating costs associated with the Company’ s non- research and development activities. Stock- Based Compensation
The Company measures and recognizes compensation expense for all stock- based awards made to employees, directors, and
non- employees, including stock options, restricted stock units and restricted shares, based on estimated fair values recognized
over the requisite service period. The Company accounts for forfeitures when they occur. The fair values of options granted




with only service conditions are estimated on the grant date using the Black- Scholes option pricing model. This valuation
model for stock- based compensation expense requires the Company to make assumptions and judgments about the variables
used in the calculation, including the expected term (weighted- average period of time that the options granted are expected to
be outstanding), the volatility of the Company’ s common stock, and an assumed risk- free interest rate. The Company
recognizes compensation expense for all options with only service conditions on a straight- line basis over the requisite service
period of the awards, which is generally the option vesting term of four years. The fair values of options granted with
performance (e. g., business milestone) and market conditions (e. g., stock price target) are estimated at the grant date using a
Monte Carlo simulation model. The model determined the grant date fair value of each vesting tranche and the future date when
the market condition for such tranche is expected to be achieved. The Monte Carlo valuation requires the Company to make
assumptions and judgements about the variables used in the calculation including the expected term, volatility of the Company *
> s common stock, an assumed risk- free interest rate, and cost of equity. For performance- based options with a vesting schedule
based on the attainment of both performance and market conditions, along with service conditions, each quarter the Company
assesses whether it is probable that it will achieve each performance condition that has not previously been achieved or deemed
probable of achievement and if so, the future time when the Company expects to achieve that business milestone, or its
expected business milestone achievement time. ” When the Company first determines that a business milestone has become
probable of being achieved, the Company allocates the entire expense for the related tranche over the number of quarters
between the grant date and the then- applicable “ expected vesting date, ”” which represents the requisite service period. The
requisite service period at any given time is generally the period between the grant date and the later of (i) the expected time
when the performance condition will be achieved (if the related performance condition has not yet been achieved) and (ii) the
expected time when the market condition will be achieved (if the related market condition has not yet been achieved). The
Company immediately recognizes a cumulative catch- up expense for all accumulated expense for the quarters from the grant
date through the quarter in which the performance condition was first deemed probable of being achieved. Each quarter
thereafter, the Company recognizes the then- remaining expense for the tranche through the end of the requisite service period
except that upon vesting of a tranche, all remaining expense for that tranche is immediately recognized. The fair values of
restricted stock units granted with service conditions only are based on the closing price of the Company’ s Class A Common
Stock on the date of grant. The Company recognizes compensation expense for restricted stock units with only service
conditions on a straight- line basis over the requisite service period of the awards, which is generally the award vesting term of
four years. The fair values of restricted stock units granted with service and performance conditions are based on the closing
price of the Company’ s Class A Common Stock on the grant date. The vesting schedule of such awards is based entirely on the
attainment of both service and performance conditions. Each quarter the Company assesses whether it is probable that it will
achieve each performance condition and if so, the future time when the Company expects to achieve that performance condition,
the “ expected vesting date ”. When the Company first determines that a performance condition has become probable of being
achieved, the Company allocates the entire expense for the related tranche over the number of quarters between the grant date
and expected vesting date, which represents the requisite service period. The requisite service period at any given time is
generally the period between the grant date and the expected time when the performance condition will be achieved with the
service condition also being met. The Company’ s 2020 Employee Stock Purchase Plan ( the “ ESPP ™) is compensatory in
accordance with ASC 718- 50- 25. The Company measures and recognizes compensation expense for shares to be issued under
the ESPP based on estimated grant date fair value recognized on a straight- line basis over the offering period. The ESPP
provides eligible employees with the opportunity to purchase shares of the Company’ s Class A Common Stock at a discount
through payroll deductions. There were $24-1 , 956-180, 215 shares purchased under the ESPP during the year ended December
31,2623-2024 . As of December 31, %92—3—2024 -1-9—9 5—3 m1lhon shares of Class A Common Stock were reserved for future
issuance under the ESPP. The 6 ARty e pe ated 0 d
Beeember3+-2623Fhe-Company established the corporate bonus plan from 2023 -Ben-us—P—lan—to besettled— settle in the form
of restricted stock units to eligible employees upon the achievement of certain service and performance conditions (* the Bonus
Plan ”) . The awards under the 2823-Bonus Plan are classified as a liability prior to the settlement of vested RSYs-restricted
stock units , upon which the liability is reclassified into equity. The 2623-Company recognizes compensation expense for the
annual Bonus Plan to be settled in restricted stock units on a straight- line basis over the requisite service period of
approximately a year. The Bonus Plan awards are measured as-at the grant date fair value, i. e., the closing price of the
Company’ s Class A Common Stock on the grant date, which is the settlement date. Income Taxes The Company accounts for
income taxes under an asset and liability approach. Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax
purposes and operating loss carryforwards, measured by applying currently enacted tax laws. Valuation allowances are provided
when necessary to reduce net deferred tax assets to an amount that is more likely than not to be realized. The Company
recognizes tax liabilities based upon its estimate of whether, and the extent to which, additional taxes will be due when such
estimates are more likely than not to be sustained. An uncertain income tax position will not be recognized if it has less than a
50 % likelihood of being sustained. Net Loss per Share of Common Stock Basic net income (loss) per share is computed by
dividing the net loss attributable to common stockholders by the weighted- average number of shares of common stock
outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings (loss) per share adjusts basic earnings per share for the potentially dilutive
impact of stock awards eptions-and-warrants-. For swatrants-awards that are liability- classified, during periods when the impact
is d1lutrve the Company assumes share settlement of the instruments as of the beginning-of the-reportingperiod end date and

v : v abtity-and adjusts the denominator to include the
dilutive shares calculated using the treasury stock method Note 3 Recent Accounting Pronouncements In March 2023, the
FASB issued ASU 2023- 01, Leases (Topic 842): Common Control Agreements, which clarifies the accounting for leasehold




improvements associated with common control leases. The ASU is effective for all entities in fiscal years beginning after
December 15,2023, The Company adopted is-eurrently-evaluating-the guidance in 2024. The adoption of such guidance had
no impact efthis-amendment-on its-the Company’ s consolidated financial statements and-related-disetostres-as of December
31,2024 . In August 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023- 05, Business Combinations- Joint Venture Formations (Subtopic 805-
60): Recognition and Initial Measurement, which addresses the accounting for contributions made to a joint venture, upon
formation, in a joint venture &’ s separate financial statements. The ASU is effective prospectively for all joint venture
formations with a formation date on or after January 1, 2025. Additionally, a joint venture that was formed before January 1,
2025 may elect to apply the amendments retrospectively. Early adoption is permitted, either prospectively or retrospectively.
The Company is currently evaluating the impact that the adoption of this standard will have on its consolidated financial
statements and-related-diselosares-. In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023- 07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280):
Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures, which improves reportable segment disclosure requirements, primarily
through enhanced disclosures about significant segment expenses. The ASU is effective for all entities in fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2023 and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. Early adoption is permitted
and public entities should apply the amendments retrospectively to all prior periods presented in the financial statements. The
Company adopted 1s—euffeﬁt-l-y—eva-1-u&&ng—the guidance in 2024. The adoption of such guidance had no material impact that
n #ts-the Company’ s consolidated financial statements and-related-diselosures-as of
December 31, 2024 . For further information, refer to the Segments section in Note 2 “ Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies. ” In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023- 09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to
Income Tax Disclosures, which enhances the transparency and decision usefulness of income tax disclosures. The ASU is
effective for all public business entities for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024. Early adoption is permitted for
annual financial statements that have not yet been issued or made available for issuance. The Company is currently evaluating
the impact that the adoption of this standard will have on its consolidated financial statements . In March 2024, the FASB
issued ASU 2024- 01, Compensation- Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Scope Application of Profits Interest and related
Similar Awards, which provides illustrative guidance to help entities determine whether profits interest and similar
awards should be accounted for as share- based payment arrangements within the scope of FASB ASC 718,
Compensation- Stock Compensation. The ASU is effective for all public business entities for annual periods beginning
after December 15, 2024, and interim periods within those annual periods. Early adoption is permitted for both interim
and annual financial statements that have not yet been issued or made available for issuance. The Company is currently
evaluating the impact that the adoption of this standard will have on its consolidated financial statements. In November
2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024- 03, Income Statement — Reporting Comprehensive Income — Expense
Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220- 40): Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses, which requires diselosures
- disclosure of specified information about certain costs and expenses in the notes to financial statements at interim and
annual reporting periods. The ASU is effective for all public business entities for annual periods beginning after
December 15, 2026 and interim periods within annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2027. Early
adoption is permitted for annual financial statements that have not yet been issued or made available for issuance. The
Company is currently evaluating the impact that the adoption of this standard will have on its consolidated financial
statements . Note 4. Fair Value Measurement The Company’ s financial assets subject to fair value measurements on a
recurring basis and the level of inputs used for such measurements were as follows (amounts in thousands): Fair Value
Measured as of December 31, 2024 Level 1 Level 2 Total Assets included in: Money market funds (1) $ 78, 736 $ — $ 78,
736 Commercial paper (2) — 61, 926 61, 926 U. S. government and agency securities (2) — 695, 504 695, 504 Corporate
notes and bonds (2) — 54, 615 54, 615 Total fair value $ 78, 736 $ 812, 045 $ 890, 781 Fair Value Measured as of
December 31, 2023 Level 1 Level 2 Total Assets included in: Money market funds (1) $ 115, 848 $ — § 115, 848 Commercial
paper (2) — 80, 913 80, 913 U. S. government and agency securities (2) — 723, 888 723, 888 Corporate notes and bonds (2) —
147,923 147, 923 Total fair Value $ 115, 848 $ 952,724 § 1, 068 572F&r14‘a+ue—Meaa&ed—as—eﬂBeeeﬂabeﬁ34—292—2—I:eveH

-fa-tr—va-}ue—$—1-97—439—$—993—3-39—$—1—9+9—7%‘3—(1) Money malket fundi are 1ncluded in cash and cash equwalentq on the

Consolidated Balance Sheets. (2) Marketable securities consist of commercial paper, U. S. government and agency securities,
corporate notes and bonds. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2022-, marketable securities with original maturities of three
months or less of $ 42. 1 million and $ 24. 4 miltenand-$77-0-million, respectively, are included in cash and cash equivalents
on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Level 1 assets: Money market funds are classified as Level 1 within the fair value
hierarchy, as fair value is based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets. Level 2 assets: Investments in
commercial paper, U. S. government and agency securities, and corporate notes and bonds are classified as Level 2 as they were
valued based upon quoted market prices for similar instruments in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar
instruments in markets that are not active, and model- based valuation techniques for which all significant inputs are observable
in the market or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets. The Company had no
financial liabilities subject to fair value measurements on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2623-2024 and December 31,
2622-2023 . There have been no changes to the valuation methods utilized during the year ended December 31, 2623-2024 . As
of December 31, 2024 and 2023 ard-2022-, the carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts payable and accrued
liabilities approximate their respective fair values due to their short- term nature. Marketable Securities The following table
summarizes, by major security type, the Company’ s assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis and are
categorized using the fair value hierarchy. Amortized cost net of unrealized gain (loss) is equal to fair value as of December 31,
2024 and 2023 and2022-. The fair value as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2022-are as follows (amounts in thousands):



RtamSeap attond nselida atemen 5 d-December 31, 2623-2024 Amortized
Cost Gross Unreahzed Gain Gross Unrealized Loss Falr Value Level 1 securities Money market funds $78,736 8 —$ —
$ 78, 736 Level 2 securities Commercial paper 61, 926 — — 61, 926 U. S. government and agency securities 695, 082 (14)
695, 504 Corporate notes and bonds 54, 609 (22) 54, 615 Total $ 890,353 $ $ (36) $ 890, 781 December 31, 2023 Amortized
Cost Gross Unrealized Gain Gross Unrealized Loss Fair Value Level 1 securities Money market funds $ 115,848 § —$ —$
115, 848 Level 2 securities Commercial paper 80, 913 — — 80, 913 U. S. government and agency securities 725, 301 (1, 747)
723 888 Corporate notes and bonds 149, 387 (1 504) 147 923 Total $ 1,071, 449 $ $ 3, 251) $ 1 068, 572Beeember—3—1—

—7’—7—8—Real1zed gains and losses and interest income from the investment are mcluded in mterest income. The Company regulally
reviews its available- for- sale marketable securities in an unrealized loss position and evaluates the current expected credit loss
by considering factors such as historical experience, market data, issuer- specific factors, and current economic conditions. The
following tables display additional information regarding gross unrealized losses and fair value by major security type for the 17
and 51 and-95-marketable securities in unrealized loss positions as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2022-, respectively
(amounts in thousands): December 31, 2024 Less than 12 Consecutive Months 12 Consecutive Months or Longer Total
Gross Unrealized Loss Fair Value Gross Unrealized Loss Fair Value Gross Unrealized Loss Fair Value U. S. government
and agency securities $ (14) $ 96,9888 —$ —$ (14) $ 96, 988 Corporate notes and bonds (19) 33, 111 (3) 1, 063 (22) 34,
174 Total $ (33) $ 130,099 $ (3) $1,063 $ (36) $ 131, 162 December 31, 2023 Less than 12 Consecutive Months 12
Consecutive Months or Longer Total Gross Unrealized Loss Fair Value Gross Unrealized Loss Fair Value Gross Unrealized
Loss Fair Value U. S. government and agency securities $ (10) $ 31, 741 $ (1, 737) $ 87,257 $ (1, 747) $ 118, 998 Corporate
notes and bonds (5) 13 338 (1 49()) 125, 524 (1 504) 138, 862 Total $ 15) $ 45,079 $§ (? 2?6) $ 212,781 $ (3,251) $ 257,

...............

F—rﬂaﬂetal—Statemeﬁts—Goﬂtrﬁued—BeeefnbeH—l—%@%—The unredhzed losses were dttrlbutable to chanoes in mterest r"ltes that
impacted the value of the investments, and not increased credit risk. During the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and
2022 sand2624-, the Company received proceeds of $ 1. 2 million, $ 1. 5 million, and $ 15. 2 ﬁa-i-l-l-ioﬂ,—aﬁd—$—2—2§.—l—million,
including interest, from the sale of available- for- sale marketable securities, respectively. The Company realized immaterial
gains and losses as a result of such sales. The Company does not intend to sell the investments that are in an unrealized loss
position, nor is it more likely than not that the Company will be required to sell the investments before the recovery of the
amortized cost basis, which may be its maturity. Accordingly, the Company did not record an allowance for credit losses
associated with these investments. The estimated amortized cost and fair value of available- for- sale securities by contractual
maturity as of December 31, 2023-2024 are as follows (amounts in thousands): December 31, 2623-2024 Amortized Cost Fair
Value Due within one year $ +-890 , 353 55,8745 +-890 , 781 652,-953-Due after one year and through five years — —45;
57845-649-Total $4-890 , 353 67454495 +-890 , 781 668572 Note 5. Balance Sheet ComponentsProperty and
EquipmentProperty and equipment as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2022-consisted of the following (amounts in
thousands): December 31, Computer equipment, hardware, and software $ 7, 831 $ 7, 191 $-6;784-Furniture and fixtures 107,
886 77, 813 5F/HFH-Leaschold improvements 115, 879 99, 524 72:-26+-Machinery and equipment 161, 460 146, 730 120618
Construction- in- progress 61, 935 89, 664 108;-585-Property and equipment, gross 454, 991 420, 922 365;-959-Accumulated
depreciation and amortization ( 154, 999) ( 107, 758 76,825 Property and equipment, net $ 299,992 § 313, 164 $295,934
Depreciation and amortization expense related to property and equipment was $ 57. 0 million, $ 41. 4 million ;-and § 27. 4
mithenand-$H-—F-million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 -and 2022 and-20624- respectively. Accrued
Liabilities Accrued liabilities as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2022,consisted of the following (amounts in thousands):
December 31, Aeerted-property-and-equipment-Litigation- related accrual $ 3-11 , 263-950 § 3-4 , 000 +52-Acerted-faeilities
e*peﬁse—l—l-@é—Other 5, 497 6 180 %47—3—2—1—9—Accmed llabllltleS $ 17 447 $10, 180 Other-$—7—47—7—7—1—Qttaﬂ-tmﬂ-Se&pe

Other-LiabilitiesOther liabilities as of

December 31,2024 and 2023 aﬂd%@%%—consnted of the followmo (amounts n thousands) December 31, Long- term advance
payments $ 2, 515 § 2, 6+5-515 Asset retirement obligation 12, 371 9, 471 5;-873-Other liabilities $ 14, 886 $ 11,986 $8;488
Note 6. Leases The Company leases its headguarters;pre—piotmanufaeturing-facilities and certain equipment, Wlth current
lease terms running through 2032 . The Company did not include renewal options in the calculation of the lease liability
and right- of use asset at the lease inception unless the exercise of such options was reasonably certain . Fixed rent
generally esedlates each year, and the Company is resp01lslble f01 a portion of the landlords’ operatmg expenses such as

an-Jo i d pHetdine—The Company s -}ease-leases expiresin
1nclude various operatlng leases explrlng at varlous dates through September 2032 —U-ndeH-h-ts—QS——@—}ease—t-he-Gom-p&ny

lease explrlng September —I-n—}uﬁe%e% 2032 he h 0 e
among-other-things;-one of our buildings in an-San e*feﬂs-teﬁ-JOSC Many leases include one or more optlons to renew. The
Company does not assume renewals in our determlnatlon of the lease term unless to-September2632—Under-the amended

rewal-renewals are deemed option;-whteh-hasnotbeenineludedin



leases do not ha\ e any contingent rent payments and do not contain residual value g guardntees The component% of le"lse related
expense are as follows (amounts in thousands): Year Ended December 31, Lease costs Finance lease costs: Amortization of
right- of- use assets $ 2, 873 $ 2, 873 $ +2 , 345-873 Interest on lease liabilities 2, 224 2,377 2, 399 4-44+9-Operating lease costs
8,994 9, 047 9, 082 3;-646-Variable lease costs 3,256 3, 775 2, 330 Total lease expense $ 17,347 $ 18, 072 $ 16, 684 $-6;886
The components of supplemental cash and non- cash information related to leases are as follows (amounts in thousands): Year
Ended December 31, Operating outgoing cash flows- finance lease $ 2,224 $ 1, 778 $ 1, 610 $-Financing outgoing cash flows-

finance lease 2, 907 1 973 Ftnaﬂerﬂg—fmeemmg)eﬂsh—ﬂews-—ﬁnaﬂee—}ease—(éé%)—Operatmo outgomg ash flows-
operatln;a le"lse 8 832 7, 428 4 673 ek assetrobtatned-aexehans " ab

information for leases as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2022-: December 31, Fmanee lease Welghted average remaining
lease term- finance lease (in years) 7. 8 .—8 9-. 8 Weighted- average discount rate- finance lease 6. 06 % 6. 06 % Operating lease
Weighted- average remaining lease term- operating lease (in years) 7. 7 8 —6-9-. 6 Weighted- average discount rate- operating
lease 6.36-34 % 6. 36 % As of December 31, 2023-2024 , future minimum payments during the next five years and thereafter
are as follows (amounts in thousands): Fiscal Year Operatinglease FinanceLease $ 85954349, 64072 $ 5, 272 9, 628329
5,417 9,435-557 5, 566 9, 464-555 5, 719 9, 686 5, 876 Thercafter 36-27 , 96522279 16 , 345470 Total 82-74 , 46249478 44
,450-320 [ess present value discount (49-16 , 834-039 ) (+H-9 , 445222 ) [ case liabilities $ 62-58 , 628-439 § 38-35 , 665-098
As the Company’ s lease agreements do not provide an implicit rate, the Company used an estimated incremental borrowing rate
that will be incurred to borrow on a collateralized basis over a similar term at the lease commencement date or modification date
in determining the present value of lease payments. Asset Retirement Obligations The Company establishes assets and liabilities
for the present value of estimated future costs to return certain of our leased facilities to their original condition upon the
termination or expiration of a lease. The recognition of an asset retirement obligation requires the Company to make
assumptions and judgments including the actions required to satisty the liability, inflation rates and the credit- adjusted risk- free
rate. The initially recognized asset retirement cost is amortized using the same method and useful life as the long- lived asset to
which it relates. Accretion expense is recognized over time as the discounted liability is accreted to its expected settlement
value. The Company recorded Asset-asset retirement obligation aetivity-for-the-year-ended-of approximately $ 12. 4 million
and $ 9. 5 million as of December 31, 2023-2024 and was-as-foHows-(ameunts—in-theusandsy—December 31, 2023 Asset

retirement-obligations-, respectlvely begrnm-ng—baﬂ}aﬂee—iﬁé— 8—7—3—1n Accrued Hiabilities-liabilities in the Consohdated inenrred
Aeeretionrexpen ; anee-Balance Sheets. $9;471-Note 7. Commitments and

Contingencies From time to time, and in the ordmary course of business, the Company is sraybe-subject to certain claims,
charges and lmoatlon concermng mdtters arrslng in connection with the conduct of the Company s business acthltleS

ﬂﬂ&e—Ufnted—Stafes%tsfﬂet—Geﬂft—fer—t-he—Northern Dlstrlct of Cahforma by purported purchdsers of Company securities
(together, the “ Securities Class Action Litigation ) . The lead plaintiff filed a consolidated complaint on June 21, 2021,
which aHeges-alleged a purported class that includes all persons who purchased or acquired our securities between November
27,2020 and April 14, 2021. The consolidated complaint rames-named the Company, its then- Chief Executive Officer, its
Chief Financial Officer, and its Chief Technology Officer as defendants. The consolidated complaint alleges that the defendants
purportedly made false and / or misleading statements and failed to disclose material adverse facts about the Company’ s
business, operations, and prospects, including information regarding the Company’ s battery technology. In April OnJanuary
+4:2022-2024 , defendants™motion-the parties reached an agreement in principle to dismiss-settle the-these consolidated
actions eomplaint-was-substantially-dented-. On-We recorded for the year ended December +9-31 , 2622-2024 -a net charge
of $ 24. 5 million for the settlement of the-these actions. This net charge represents the gross settlement amount of $ 47. 5
million and $ 0. 4 million of related legal fees, offset by $ 23. 4 million for amounts recovered under our applicable
insurance policies. The court granted plaintiffs>meotion-to-eettify-final approval of the settlement in January 2025 and final
judgment was accordingly entered in the actlon As of December 31 2024 i-he—there e{ass—Qua-nfuﬂa-Seape—eeﬁfmues-ls no
outstanding liability related to this matter bettev e .




wigorousty-. Shareholder Derivative LitigationTwo shareholder derivative suits were filed in February 2021 in the United States
District Court for the Northern District of California against 11 officers and directors of the Company and have been
consolidated into one action, with the first- filed complaint being designated the operative one. The Company is the nominal
defendant. The complaint alleges that the individual defendants breached various duties to the Company and contains additional
similar allegations based on the same general allegations in the class action described immediately above. VGA is also named as
a defendant in the derivative litigation. The action is currently stayed. A shareholder derivative suit was filed in October
2024 in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California against current and former officers and
directors of the Company and VGA alleging breaches of duties to the Company. The Company is the nominal defendant.
The action was deemed related to the consolidated action and is currently stayed. Since June 2022, Fourfour sharcholder
derivative suits wetre-have been filed beginning-inrdune2022-in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware against current
and former directors and officers of the Company. The Company is the nominal defendant. The complaints allege that the
individual defendants breached various duties to the Company. VGA is also named as a defendant in twe-three of those actions.
Fhe-suits-In September 2022, the four actions were consolidated and are-eutrently-stayed . A consolidated amended
complaint was filed on July 30, 2024 . A sharcholder derivative action was filed in the United States District Court for the
District of Delaware on February 22, 2024, against current and former directors and officers of the Company. The Company is
the nominal defendant. The complaint alleges that the individual defendants breached various duties to the Company and
includes a claim for contribution related to the class action. The complaint alse alleges that plaintiff previously sent a litigation
demand to the Board and alleges that the demand has effectively been rejected. The €ompany-action is currently stayed. Two
additional shareholder derivative actions were filed in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware, on May 30, 2024
and October 14, 2024, against current and former directors and officers of the Company. The Company is the nominal
defendant. The complaints allege that the individual defendants breached various duties have-netyetrespended-to the
Company. The eemplaint-complaints also allege that the plaintiffs previously sent a litigation demand to the Board and
allege that the demands had effectively been rejected. The action filed in May 2024 is currently stayed . Delaware Class
ActionA shareholder derivative suit was filed in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware on August 16, 2022, against
former and current directors and officers of the Company and of Kensington. Defendants moved to dismiss the complaint.
Plaintiff filed an amended complaint on March 3, 2023, this time seeking relief on behalf of a putative class of holders of
Kensington Class A Common Stock who held such stock prior to the November 23, 2020 redemption deadline and were
allegedly entitled to redeem their shares but did not. The amended class action complaint alleges that the defendants breached
various duties to Kensington stockholders or aided and abetted such breaches. Defendants moved to dismiss the amended
complaint on May 8, 2023, and a hearing was held on February 21, 2024. The Kensington Defendants’ motion to dismiss was
denied. The Legacy QuantumScape Defendants’ motion to dismiss was denied as to two defendants and granted as to the others.
F-QuantamSeape-CorporationNotes-In October 2024, the parties reached an agreement in principle to settle the action.
The settlement is subject to final documentation, notice to class members, and approval by the court Prlvate Attorneys
General ActionsThe Company is a defendant in to-two Consotida
Private Attorneys General Act (“ PAGA ) wage- and- hour actions ﬁled in Santa Clara County Superlor Court by
former employees , 2623For-along with a related class action in arbitration. The complaints allege violations of
California’ s Labor Code. The actions are presently stayed. The Company denies the allegations. For many legal matters,
particularly those in early stages, the Company cannot reasonably estimate the possible loss (or range of loss), if any. The
Company records an accrual for legal matters at the time or times it determines that a loss is both probable and reasonably
estimable. As of December 31, 2024, the amount accrued for each matter was individually not material, and the aggregate
amount accrued was approximately $ 12 million. The Ameunts-amounts accrued as of December 31, 2023 for legal matters
and-Deeember31;2022-were not material. Regarding matters for which no accrual has been made (including the potential for
losses in excess of amounts accrued), the Company currently believes, based on its own investigations, that any losses (or ranges
of losses) that are reasonably possible and estimable will not, in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on its financial
position, results of operations, or cash flows. However, the ultimate outcome of legal proceedings involves judgments,
estimates, and inherent uncertainties and cannot be predicted with certainty. Should the ultimate outcome of any legal matter be
unfavorable, the Company & s business, financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows could be materially and
adversely affected. The Company may also incur substantial legal fees, which are expensed as incurred, in defending against
legal claims. Other commitmentsThe Company -’ s minimum purchase commitments consist of non- cancellable agreements to
purchase goods and services, primarily for materials, and licenses and hosting services, entered into in the ordinary course of
business. As of December 31, 2623-2024 , future minimum purchase commitments in aggregate during the next five years and
thereafter are ﬁppfea&ma-te}y—as follows (amounts in thousands): Fiscal Year Minimum Purchase Commitments $ 4, $94-4-309
2,142 1, 418Theleatter—T0tal$-l%7 963—869N0t68. stmed nmon-Stoek-WarrantsThe F-aSSH




ig-th Note Stockholders Equrty As of Decelnber 3l 2024 and 2023 a-nd
%92—2—, l, 350 OOO OOO shares $ O OOOl par Value per share are authorized, of which, 1, 000, 000, 000 shares are designated as
Class A Common Stock, 250, 000, 000 shares are designated as Class B Common Stock, and 100, 000, 000 shares are
designated as Preferred Stock. Common Stock Holders of common stock are entitled to dividends when, as, and if, declared by
the Company &’ s Board of Directors ( the “ the-Board ™), subject to the rights of the holders of all classes of stock outstanding
having priority rights to dividends. As of December 31, 2623-2024 , the Company had not declared any dividends. The holder of
each share of Class A Common Stock is entitled to one vote, and the holder of each share of Class B Common Stock is entitled
to ten votes. In March 2021, the Company completed an underwritten public offering of shares of its Class A Common Stock
and issued 11, 960, 000 shares for an aggregate purchase price of § 462. 9 million, net of issuance costs of $ 15. 5 million (the
March 2021 Public Offering ). On February 28, 2023, the Company entered into separate Distribution Agreements with J. P.
Morgan Securities LLC, Cowen and Company, LLC, Deutsche Bank Securities Inc. and UBS Securities LLC, as sales agents,
pursuant to which the Company is able to, from time to time, issue and sell common stock with an aggregate offering price of up
to $ 400 million (the “ At- the- Market Offering ”, or the “~ATM offering Z-under the prospectus supplement to the Form S- 3
filed on February 28, 2023 (File No. 333- 266419). Ne-During the year ended December 31, 2024, 24. 9 million shares of the
Company &’ s Class A Common Stock were sold pursuant to the ATM offering during-the-yearended-Deeember3+for
aggregate proceeds of approximately $ 128. 5 million , 2623-net of issuance costs paid . In August 2023, the Company
completed an underwritten pubhc offering of 37. 5 million shares of its Class A Common Stockand—tss-ued—?v—’/—S@G—%@—shafes
for an aggregate purchase price of $ 288. 2 million, net of issuance costs of § 11. 8 million (the “ August 2023 Public Offerrng
). Equity Incentive Plans Prior to the Business Combination, the Company maintained its 2010 Equity Incentive Plan (the
2010 Plan ), under which the Company granted options and restricted stock units to purchase or directly issue shares of
common stock to employees, directors, and non- employees. Upon the closing of the Business Combination, awards under the
2010 Plan were converted at an exchange ratio of 4. 02175014920 , and assumed into the 2020 Equity Incentive Award Plan
(the “ 2020 Plan ”, and together with the 2010 Plan, the “ Plans ). The 2020 Plan permits the granting of awards in the form of
incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted shares, restricted stock units and
performance awards to employees, directors, and non- employees. As of December 31, 2623-2024 , 84-109 , $43-465 , 924-480
shares of Class A Common Stock are authorized for issuance pursuant to awards under the 2020 Plan, plus any shares of Class
A Common Stock subject to stock options, restricted stock units or other awards that were assumed in the Business Combination
and terminate as a result of being unexercised or are forfeited or repurchased by the Company, with the maximum number of
shares to be added to the 2020 Plan equal to 69, 846, 580 shares of Class A Common Stock. As of December 31, 2023-2024 , 36
49 , 189420 , -1-3—7—281 shares of Class A Common Stock are reserved and avarlable for future issuance under the 2020 Plan. 76

may be granted at a price per share not less than lOO % of the farr market Value at the date of grant lf the option is granted to a
10 % stockholder, then the purchase or exercise price per share shall not be less than 110 % of the fair market value per share of
the common stock on the grant date. Options granted generally vest over a period of four years and have ten- year contractual
terms. Stock OptionsStock option activity under the Plans, including the EPA Program discussed below, is as follows: Number
ofSharesOutstanding (in thousands) WeightedAverageExercise Price WeightedAverageRemainingContractualTerm (Years)
Intrinsic value (in thousands) Balance as of December 31, 2022-2023 (1) 56;424-$-8-656-05Cancelled-andforfeited 23873}
$—22—34—Exerersed—€7—l+9)—$4—33—&&aneeaseﬂ9eeembe&3&—2@%—42 141 $9.60 5. 48 Cancelled and forfeited (2) (9, 241)
23. 04 Expired (42) 6. 23 Exercised (8, 815) 1. 65 Balance as of December 31, 2024 24, 043 $ 131-7. 36 4. 21 $ 55 , 443-244
Vested and expected to vest as of December 31, 2623-2024 (3) 33-20 , 676-516 $ 5-92-4. 86-66 3. 74 $ 431-55 , 443-244 Vested
and exercisable as of December 31, 2023-2024 %6—17 , 051953 $ 42 . 984-24 3 . 96-30 $ 429-55 , 567244 (1) This includes +6
15 . 6-1 million options granted and outstanding as of December 31, 2622-2023 pursuant to the EPA Program. (2) This includes
6-9 . 82 million options forfeited under the EPA Program. (3) This includes 6-2 . 8-4 million options granted pursuant to the
EPA Program that are earrentlyexpected to vest as of December 31, 2024 . None of the options granted pursuant to the EPA
Program were vested and exercisable as of December 31, 2623-2024 . There were no options granted during the year ended
December 31, 2024 or December 31, 2023. Options w1th a weighted average fair value of $ 4. 93 per share and-$20-58per
share-were granted during the year ended December 31, 2022 and-Deeember3+;2024respeetively-. The aggregate intrinsic
value of options exercised during the years ended December 31,2623-2024 , December 31, 2622-2023 and December 31, 262+
2022 was $ 39. 9 million and $ 49. 8 million and $ 42. 0 ﬂa-rl-l-teﬁ—aﬁd—$—489—7—mrlhon respectrvely Additional 1nf0rrnat10n
regarding options outstanding as of December 31, 2823-2024 , is as follows: Range of Exercise Price per Share Number of
Options Outstanding (in thousands) Weighted Average Exercise Price Weighted Average Remaining Contractual Life (Years) $
1.05-$1.354+6-10 ,200-248 5 1. 36-322.94-14 $ 2. 38 85 ,333-541 $ 2. 38 54 . 5451 $ 6. 23 2, 489-375 5 6. 23 65 . 6867 $
23.04 455, H9-879 $ 23. 04 6. 96 24, 043 $ 7. 36 4 96-42141-$9- 21 60-548-Stock- based compensation expense is based
on the grant- date fair value. The Company recognizes compensation expense for awards with only service conditions on a
straight- line basis over the requisite service period of the awards, which is generally the option vesting term of four years.
Excluding options granted pursuant to the EPA Program, as of December 31, 2623-2024 , the Company had unrecognized
stock- based compensation of $ 2-0 . 4-6 million related to unvested stock optrons ﬂet—yet—feeeg-mzed—that are expected to be
recognized over an estimated weighted average period of +0 . 3-7 years. d nSeape-Corpo e
Finanetal-Statements—Continwed-Deeember3+,2623-There were no options granted in the year ended December 31 2024 or
December 31, 2023. The following weighted average assumptions were used as inputs to the Monte Carlo simulation in
determining the estimated grant- date fair value of the Company’ s stock options for the year ended December 31, 2022 and
262+ Year Ended December 31, Volatility 98. 69 % H2-—49-%Risk- free interest rate 3. 52 % +—44-%-Expected dividend —




—Cost of equity 14. 62 %1H-66-% Weighted average fair value at grant date $ 4. 93 $26-58-All options granted during the
years— year cnded December 31, 2022 and-Deeember3+2624-were granted pursuant to the EPA Program and were valued
using a Monte Carlo simulation. The Monte Carlo simulation used in the valuation of the options required the Company to
make assumptions and judgements about the variables used in the calculation including the expected term, volatility of the
Company’ s common stock and cost of equity. The Company estlmated expected term based on the 1n1dp01nt between the time
of Vestlng and the remalnlng time to explratlon of the optlon Sra § stven-the-Himited-marke

Company s h1st0r1ca1 Volatlhty from daily closmg stock prlces given 1ncreased trading h1st0ry and (ii) the Company’ s implied
volatility from exchange traded options. Cost of equity is calculated using (i) risk- free rate, (ii) average peer group market beta
and (iii) the market- risk premium. EPA ProgramIn December 2021, the Company granted stock options for the purchase of an
aggregate of approximately 14. 7 million shares of the Company -> s Class A Common Stock to the Company > s Chief
Executive Officer at the time and other members of the Company’ s management team pursuant to the EPA Program that was
approved by the Company &’ s stockholders in December 2021. In December 2022, the remaining 2. 1 million stock options
under the EPA Program were granted to members of the Company > s management team under the same terms as those in the
initial grant in 2021, representing the final grant pursuant to the EPA Program approved in December 2021. The EPA Program
consists of five equal tranches (each a *“ Tranche ) that vest if the Company meets certain business milestones (performance
conditions) and stock price targets (market conditions). Business MilestonesThe compensation committee of the Board selected
the following eleven business milestones for the EPA Program, of which one new business milestone must be achieved for each
Tranche. ¢ Delivery of an A- sample battery cell that meets specifications agreed upon with an automaker * The validation by an
auto maker of a completed B- sample battery cell (a B- sample battery cell is a functional, complete battery cell prototype
produced from our pre—pilot ersample-produetion-line) « Delivery of at least 1- gigawatt hour (GWh) of battery cells to a single
customer ¢ Delivery of at least 3- gigawatt hour (GWh) of battery cells to each of three or more customers, with at least one of
such eustemer-customers being an auto maker * $ 5 billion in GAAP revenue over a period of trailing four quarters « $ 10
billion in GAAP revenue over a period of trailing four quarters * Total cumulative battery cell production of 500 GWh ¢ Total
cumulative battery cell productlon of 1, OOO GWh Adjusted EBITDA margln of at least 25 % over four consecutive guarters78&
-- quarters Quantum niNotes-to-ConsolidatedFinanetal-Statements—Continted-Deeembe * 10 % of
worldwide market share in automotive battery cells (excludlng Chlna) 20 % of worldwide market share in automotlve battery
cells (excluding China) Once a business milestone has been achieved, that business milestone will be considered achieved, even
if later the Company does not maintain performance at that level. Stock Price TargetsThe stock price targets of the five
Tranches of the EPA Program are $ 60, $ 120, $ 180, $ 240 and $ 300. To meet the stock price targets, the stock price must be
sustained and not merely momentarily achieved. Except in the case of a change in control, the Company’ s stock price for the
purposes of assessing the stock price target will be the 120- day trailing average closing price (based on trading days), but a
stock price target will not be achieved unless the trailing average closing price of the last 30 trading days of such 120- trading
day period also meets or exceeds the applicable stock price target. For a stock price target for any given Tranche to be achieved,
the last day of the 120- day measurement period must occur on or after the date that the requisite number of business milestones
have been achieved for such Tranche. Vesting TranchesEach of the five Tranches west-vests only if the Company first achieves
ofte-of-a new business milestone from the eleven identified business milestones , and (—tn—addrt—ren—te—t-he—then business
milestones-already-achievedinapriorTraneheyand-achieves the next applicable stock prlce target enror-after-the-bustness
milestone-ts-aehieved;-within 10 years of the initial grants. Additionally, in order to vest in any Tranche, the Parttetpants—-
participant generally must continue to provide service through the date of vesting in the same position, or a similar or higher
role, as when the EPA Program awards are granted. Tranche Business Milestone Requirement Stock Price Target Achievement
of 1 business milestone $ 60 Achievement of 2 business milestones (inclusive of the business milestone applicable to Tranche 1)
$ 120 Achievement of 3 business milestones (inclusive of the business milestone applicable to Tranche 2) $ 180 Achievement of
4 business milestones (inclusive of the business milestone applicable to Tranche 3) $ 240 Achievement of 5 business milestones
(inclusive of the business milestone applicable to Tranche 4) $ 300 Change in Controlln the event of a change in control of the
Company, a portion of the EPA Program awards may also be eligible to vest; in such event, the business milestone requirement
will not be applicable and the Company’ s stock price for the purposes of the stock price targets will be the price per share paid
in such change in control. In the event that the Company’ s stock price by this measure falls between two stock price targets,
linear interpolation between the two applicable stock price targets will be used to determine an additional portion of the EPA
Program awards that will vest. Any portion of an EPA Program award that is not vested upon and after giving effect to a change
in control will terminate. The Company accounts for the compensation expense associated with each Tranche when it
determines that achievement of a related business milestone is considered probable. As of December 31, 2023-2024 , the
business milestone for one Tranche had been achieved; however, because the related stock price target has not yet been
achieved, no shares have vested to date. As of December 31, 2823-2024 , one other Tranche was considered probable. In
February 2024, the 8. 4 million stock options granted to Mr. Jagdeep Singh under the Company’ s EPA Program
forfeited in accordance with the contractual terms upon the termination of his employment. For the year ended
December 31, 2024, the Company recorded a credit in stock- based compensation expense of $ 13. 4 million, primarily
due to the reversal of the previously recognized expense of $ 17. 6 million for the options where the requisite service
period had not been completed at the time of forfeiture including options which Mr. Jagdeep Singh forfeited. For the
years ended December 31, 2023 s-and December 31, 2022 and-Deeember3+202+, the Company recorded stock- based




compensation expense of $ 26. 3 million ;and $ 49. 4 million, and-$24-mithen;respectively, related to the EPA Program. As
of December 31, 2823-2024 , the Company had approximately $ 32-7 . 2-9 million of total unrecognized stock- based
compensation expense for the business milestones currently achieved or considered probable of achievement, which will be
recognized over an estimated weighted- average period of 3-2 . 6-1 years. As of December 31, 2623-2024 , the Company had
approximately $ +68-55 . 0 million of total unrecoomzed stock- based compensatlon expense for the busmess mllestones
currently considered not probable of achievement. poration
Contintred-Deeember3+2023-Restricted Stock Units Aetwr&esDufrﬂg» Act1v1t1esIn t-he—yea-lkeﬂded-Beeefnber—Zv—l—2023 the
Company granted 4. 4 million shares of restricted stock units with service and performance conditions (“ PSU *’) to members of
the Company’ s management team and certain other employees under the Company’ s 2020 Plan. The performance conditions
for these PSUs are related to the Company’ s product development milestones through May 2026. These PSUs will expire in
May 2026 if performance conditions are not met. In 2024, the Company granted 4. 2 million shares of PSUs to members of
the Company’ s management team and certain other employees. The performance conditions for these PSUs are related
to the Company’ s product development milestones through May 2027. These PSUs will expire in May 2027 if
performance conditions are not met. For the year ended December 31, 2623-2024 , the Company recorded stock- based
compensation expense of $ +5-24 . -3 million , related to these PSUs, for ﬂpeﬂ—detefrn-mat—teﬂ—t-h&t—the product development
milestones are-currently achieved or conﬂdered probable of achievement. #a-For the year ended December 31, 2023, the
Company established-recorded stock- based compensation expense of $ 15. 8 million, related to the-these PSUs, for the
product development milestones considered probable of achievement. The Company’ s 2023 Bonus Plan was te-be-settled
in the form of restricted stock units to employees upon the achievement of certain service and performance conditions. These
performance conditions are related to the Company”’ s product development, operational, and business milestones for 2023 in
the-eurrent-year-. For-The stock- based compensation expense related to the 2023 Bonus Plan were recorded as liabilities
under Accrued compensation and benefits prlor to the settlement Durmg the year ended Decembel 31,2023,

appfexﬁat%%—ﬂ&eﬁs&ﬂd—restrlcted stock units were granted and vested undel the 2023 Bonus Plan f01 the 1ntenm payout
settlement , resulting in $ 2. 9 million in additional paid in capital. Subsequent to 2023, a total of approximately 3. 2
million restricted stock units were granted and vested under the 2023 Bonus Plan for the final settlement, resulting in
approximately $ 20. 4 million in additional paid in capital. For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company
recorded stock- based compensation expense of $ 2. 6 million related to the 2023 Bonus Plan. For the year ended
December 31, 2023, the Company recorded stock- based compensation expense of $ 20. 7 million, related to the 2023
Bonus Plan. A portion of the Company’ s 2024 Bonus Plan will be settled in the form of restricted stock units to eligible
employees upon the achievement of certain service and performance conditions. For the year ended December 31, 2024,
the Company recorded stock- based compensation expense of $ 19. 7 million, related to the 2024 Bonus Plan for the
performance conditions achieved as of December 31, 2024. During the year ended December 31, 2024, approximately 0. 4
million restricted stock units were granted and vested under the 2024 Bonus Plan for the interim settlement, resulting in
$ 2. 8 million in additional paid in capital. The remaining stock- based compensation expense of $ +716 . 8-9 million related to
the 2023-2024 Bonus Plan are recorded as liabilities under Accrued compensation and benefits in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets as of December 31, 2023-2024 , and W111 be recldssn‘led to addltlonal pald in Cdpltdl upon gf&ﬂt—lssuance of the restricted
stock units = app m : eted g e
ﬂ&e—%@%—Beﬂtts—P-laﬂ—fe%&re—ﬁﬂa-l-payeﬁt— Restrlcted stock units Wlth service condmons only (- RSU ”) and PSU activities under
the Plans are as follows: RSUs Outstanding PSUs Outstanding Number of Units (in thousands) WeightedAverage GrantDate
Fair V'llue Number of Umts (m thouscmds) WelghtedA\ erage Gldnthte Fair V'llue Bdldnce as of December 31 %922—1—6%63%

-8—7’—Bﬂ-}&ﬂee-&s-ef—Beeefﬂ-ber—3-1—2022 22 003 $ 9 99 4, 319 $ 7 65 Granted 17, 068 5 97 7, 794 6 42 Vested (9 919) 10 37
(4, 656) 6. 70 Forfeited (3,277) 8. 28 (882) 7. 21 Balance as of December 31, 2024 26, 875 $ 7. 51 6, 575 $ 6. 92 The fair
value of RSUs which vested during the years ended December 31, 2623-2024 , December 31, 2622-2023 and December 31,
2024-2022 was $ 58. 3 million, $ 68. | millionsand $ 65. 5 millienand-$3980-million, respectively. The fair value of PSUs
which vested during the year ended December 31, 2024 was $ 29. 3 million in total, consisting of the final settlement under
the 2023 Bonus Plan, the interim settlement under the 2024 Bonus Plan, and the PSUs granted to members of the
Company’ s management team and certain other employees. The fair value of PSUs which vested during the year ended
December 31, 2023 was § 2. 9 million, which was the interim payout-settlement under the 2023 Bonus Plan. No PSUs were
granted during the years— year ended December 31, 2022 and-. As of December 31, 26242024 —As-of Deeember31,2623-,
unrecognized compensation costs related to unvested RSUs and PSUs were $ 2—1—4—182 4 million and $ +#13 . 3-5 million,
respectively, and are expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2. 5 years and 1. 8-3 years, respectively.
Stock- Based Compensation ExpenseTotal stock- based compensation expense recognized in the accompanying Consolidated
Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss for all awards is as follows (amounts in thousands): Year Ended December
31, Research and development $ 97,947 $ 94, 285 $ 62, 892 $29,653-General and administrative 46, 706 72, 012 64, 218 22;

52—2—Total stock- based compensatlon expense 3> 144, 653 $ 166 297 3> 127,110 -$é2—1—7§—'l"—he—steek-—based—eeﬁa-peﬂsa-t-teﬂ

e hteh-ts-rela he 5 n-the-Consolida ; heets-as .Note-l-9-9
Edmmés (Loss) Per Share Basic net loss per shcne is computed by dividing the net 1oss by the Welghted average number of
shares of common stock outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share adjusts basic earnings per share for the
potentially dilutive impact of stock options and-warrants-. As the Company has reported a loss for the year ended December 31,




2623-2024 , potentially dilutive securities ineladingstoek-options-and-warrants-, are antidilutive and accordingly, basic net loss

per share equals diluted net loss per share. The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted loss per Class A
Common Stock and Class B Common Stock (amounts in thousands, except per share amounts): Year Ended December 31,
Numerator Net loss attributable to common itockholders -—B&ste—$ (477, 857) $ (445 145) $ (41 1, 907 )—$—€4§—966)—I:ess—

) Denominator: Werghted average Class A and Class B Common
Stock outstandmg— Basic and Dlluted 508 102 462, 239 432, 973 Net loss per share attributable to 464, 259-Effeet-of
“lass A and Class B Common stockholders- Basic and Diluted § (0. 94) $
(0. 96) $ (0. 95) Basic and diluted earnings per share was the same for each period presented as the inclusion of all
potentlal Class A Common Stock and Clai% B Common Stock outstandmg would have been anti - dllutlve Dituted462,239

followmg table preients the potential common stock outstanding that was excluded from the computatlon of dlluted net loss per
share of common stock as of the periods presented because including them would have been antidilutive (amounts in
thousands): Year Ended December 31, Options 24, 043 42, 141 50, 124 53;-678-RSUs 26, 875 23, 003 16, 563 PSUs 10, 541
555PSYs-7, 259 — —Total 61, 459 72, 403 66, 687 63;7633-Note H-10 . Joint Venture and Redeemable Non- Controlling
Interest As described in Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, in September 2018, Legacy QuantumScape
entered into a JVA, which was amended in 2020, with VWGoA and VGA and formed QSV. The Company has-determined that
the entity was a VIE with a related party, and the Company’ s operations were more closely associated with QSV. As-sueh-On
July 5, 2024, the Company, QS, VWGo0A, VGA, and the JV Entity, entered into the JV Termination Agreement to,
among the-other Company-eonsolidates-things, terminate the JVA and dissolve the JV Entity. OSV fer-was subsequently
dissolved in September 2024. The financial position reporting-purposes;-and results of anen—eontroHing-interestisrecorded
for-VGA-snterestin-the-net-assets-and-operations of QSV had been included in the Company ' s eperations-te-consolidated
financial statements from the extent-date of the ¥GA-initial investment up until the dissolution date . The-Company—s
Consolidated-Balanee-Sheetsineludes-Cash and cash equivalents for QSV were approximately $ 3. 7 million and $ 3. 5

million prlor to dissolution and -$—3—4—&n+l-terreash—aﬁd-eas-h—eqtu¥a-}eﬂts-ef—QS¥Las of December 31, 2023 and-Deeember3+;

—Gentmtted—Beeember—Zv—l— %92—3—"1"—he—the Company dlstrlbuted approx1mately $ 1 8 mllllon in cash to VGA The
following table sets forth the change in redeemable non- controlling interest for years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 ;-and
2022 aﬁd%@%—l—("lmounts in thouiands) Redeem"lble Non Controllmglnterest Balanec-as-of Deeember3152020-$1,704 Net
5 § g v Balance as of December 31,2021 § 1, 693 Net income
attributable to redeemable non- controlling mterest in QSV Balance as of December 31, 2022 $ 1, 704 Net income attributable to
redeemable non- controlling interest in QSV Balance as of December 31, 2023 § 1, 770 Net loss attributable to redeemable
non- controlling interest in QSV (85) Dissolution of joint venture (1, 685) Balance as of December 31, 2024 $§ — Pursuant
to the JV Termination agreement-Agreement with-VWGeA-, the Company-hasreserved-earmark restrictions on $ 134. 0
mrlhon te—of -fuﬁd-funds tts—expeeted—eqttrty—prevmusly reserved by the Company for future eontribttions— contribution to
v ; r-the JV Entity were removed

g d h 0 d . Note +2-11 . Income Taxes The
Company has no domestlc provision for income taxes for the years ended December 31, %92—3—2024 December 31, 2622-2023
and December 31, 26242022 . The Company has no domestic current tax expense hom losses generated in the U. S. and no
deferred expense from the valuation allowance. The Company established a foreign subsidiary in Japan during the year ended
December 31, 2021. The foreign tax provision for the years ended December 31, 2823-2024 , December 31, 2822-2023 and
December 31, 20242022 is not material. A reconciliation from U. S. statutory rate of 21 % to the effective rate is as follows:
Year Ended December 31, Federal Statutory rate 21. 0 % 21 0 % 21.0 % State tax expense 7.0 % 7.0 % 7 -1—0 % Stock based

Forelgn income taxes at rates other than the US rate 0 5—1 % Ghange—m—f&rr—va}ue—e%Seﬂes—F—tr&nehe—hab&mes-O 0 % O 0
% 9-0-%-Sec. 162 (m) wage limitation (1.5 %) (7. 3 %) (2. 2 %) (—1—1—3—9%)—Chan0e to Valuanon allowance ( 27 %) ( 23 8

%) (34. 7 %-488—) Effective tax rate 0. 0 % 0.0 % 0. 0 %
Statements—Continted-Deeember3+-2023-Significant components of the Company s net deferred tax asset% as of December
31, 2023-2024 and December 31, 2822-2023 , are as follows (amounts in thousands): Year Ended December 31, Deferred tax
assets: Net operating losses $ 479, 714 $ 400, 678 $336:-6+FTax credits 84,574 72, 409 58-4F6-Accruals and stock- based
compensation 25, 875 20, 610 281+52-Lease liability 28, 714 29, 953 36;-5H-Section 174 capitalized research & development
117, 456 82, 303 45;:369-Gross deferred tax assets 736, 333 605, 953 499;485-Valuation allowance ( 674, 155) (544, 408 ¥
£438,242-) Total deferred tax assets $ 62, 178 $ 61, 545 $-66;973-Deferred tax liabilities: Right of use assets $ (20, 273) $ (22,
382) $24450)-Intangibles (1, 011) (915 H56+) Fixed assets ( 39, 803) (38, 248 H35;962-) Total deferred tax liabilities (61,
087) (61, 545 366;973-) Total net deferred tax assets $ —1, 091 $ — Recognition of deferred tax assets is appropriate when
realization of such assets is more likely than not. Based upon the weight of available evidence, which includes the Company’ s
historical operating performance, cumulative net losses, and projected future losses, the Company has provided a full valuation
allowance against its U. S. deferred tax assets. The Company’ s valuation allowance increased by $ 129. 7 million and $ 106. 2

mithon $1H45-0-millienand $18F4-million for the years ended December 31, 2023-2024 --and December 31, 20222023 and




Beeember3+2624-, respectively. A reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of the valuation allowance is as
follows (amounts in thousands): Year Ended December 31, Beginning of the year $ ( 544, 408) $ (438, 212) $293;24H5-$
{0578 Increase (129, 747) (106, 196 HH45:-00H-38%436-) End of the year § ( 674, 155) $ (544, 408 564382425
293;244) As of December 31, 2623-2024 , the Company had U. S. federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of
approximately $ 1.4-6 billion and $ 1. 5-9 billion, respectively. The U. S. federal net operating loss carryforwards of $ 170. 2
million generated prior to 2018 will expire at various dates beginning in 2030, if not utilized. We-hawe-The remaining U. S.
federal net operating loss Carryforwardq of $ 1. 2-5 billion ywhieh-can be carried forward indefinitely. The state net operating
loss carryforwards will expire at various dates beginning in 2030, if not utilized. In Seetton382-and-Seetton-383-ofthe event of

a change in ownership, as deﬁned {nfemal—Reveﬂtw—Geée—&heLGeée%—aﬂd-sm&afpfmaﬁeﬁs—undel federal and state tax
faw-laws , the Company' s 1 net operating loss earryforwards-and tax research-and

&eve{epmeﬂt—medlt carryforwards could be subject to annual limitations . The Code-eontains-provisions-thatlimit-annual
llmltatlons could result in the explratlon of the U—S—feéefal—net opel atlng loss and tax credlt carryforwardq fh&t—ma—y—be—used

ﬁf—Beeeﬁ&ber—3—1—292—3— the Company also ha% U. S. federal and Cahforma reiearch and development credlt% of § 86—101 8
million and $ 72 . 3 mithenand-$-6+—-+-million, respectively. The U. S. federal tax credit carryforwards will expire beginning in
2031, if not utilized. The state tax credit carryforwards do not expire. The Company records unrecognized tax benefits in
accordance with ASC 740- 10, Income Taxes. ASC 740- 10 prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the
financial statement recognition and measurement of uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be taken in the Company’ s
income tax return and also provides guidance on de- recognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim
periods, disclosure, and transition. A reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of unrecognized tax benefits is as
follows (amounts in thousands): Year Ended December 31, Beginning of the year $ 68, 057 $ 52, 802 §$ 32, 172 $-6;575
Increase — current year positions 14, 826 15, 113 12, 388 28;-633-Decrease — current year positions — — (5, 056) —Increase
i i i 923-End of the year $ 81,395 $ 68,
057 $ 52, 802 $32,472-Due to the Company’ s full valuation allowance, the unrecognized tax benefits would not materially
impact the Company’ s effective tax rate when recognized. The Company does not anticipate the total amounts of unrecognized
tax benefits will significantly increase or decrease in the next 12 months. The Company’ s policy is to classify interest and
penalties associated with uncertain tax positions, if any, as a component of its income tax provision. For the years ended
December 31, 2024, 2023 ;-and 2022 and-2624, the Company had no interest or penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits.
The U. S. federal and state income tax returns are open under the statute of limitations subject to tax examinations for the tax
years ended December 31, 2020 through December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2019 through December 31, 2022, respectively.
To the extent the Company has tax attribute carryforwards, the tax years in which the attribute was generated may still be
adjusted upon exammatlon by the IRS or state tax authorities to the extent utilized in a future perlod Nete—B—Sﬂbseqﬂeﬂt-

Accountlng and F 1nanc1al Dleclosure None. Item 9A. Control% and Procedure% leltatlon% on Effectlveneqs of Controls and
Procedures In designing and evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a- 15 (e) and 15d- 15 (e)
under the Exchange Act), management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated,
can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and
Procedures Our management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, has
evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2623-2024
, the end of the period covered by this Report. Based upon that evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial
officer concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this Report, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective.
Management' s Report on Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting Our management is responsible for establishing and
maintaining adequate internal control over our financial reporting. Our internal control over financial reporting is designed to
provide reasonable assurances regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with U. S. generally accepted accounting principles. Our internal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and procedures that: * pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets; * provide reasonable assurance that transactions are



recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with U. S. generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and
directors; and ¢ provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or
disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. Our internal control systems include the
controls themselves, actions taken to correct deficiencies as identified, an organizational structure providing for division of
responsibilities, careful selection and training of qualified financial personnel and a program of internal audits. Our management
has assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2623-2024 . In making this
assessment, management used the criteria established in Internal Control- Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) (2013 framework). Based on this assessment, our management
concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2023-2024 . Attestation of
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, which
has audited and reported on the consolidated financial statements contained in this Report, has issued its report on the
effectiveness of the Company’ s internal control over financial reporting which is included in Part II. Item 8- Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data. Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting There was no change in our internal
control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a- 15 (f) and 15d- 15 (f) under the Exchange Act) that occurred during the
quarterly period ended December 31, 2823-2024 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our
internal control over financial reporting. Item 9B. Other Information . Securities Trading Plans of Directors and Executive
Officers During our last fiscal quarter, none of our directors or officers, as defined in Rule 16a- 1 (f), adopted and / or
terminated a “ Rule 10b5- 1 trading arrangement ” or a “ non- Rule 10b5- 1 trading arrangement, ” as defined in
Regulation S- K Item 408. Extraordinary Performance Award Waivers On February 24, 2025, each of the following
current named executive officers — Kevin Hettrich, Timothy Holme and Mohit Singh — and certain other senior
employees entered into agreements with the Company to waive the stock options granted to them under the Company’ s
2021 Extraordinary Performance Award Program. The total number of shares of the Company’ s Class A Common
Stock underlying such waived stock options was 3, 989, 584 . Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that
Prevent Inspections. PART III In accordance with General Instruction G. (3) of Form 10- K certain information required by this
Part IIT will either be incorporated into this Report by reference to our definitive proxy statement for our 2624-2025 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders filed within 120 days after December 31, 2623-2024 or will be included in an amendment to this
Report filed within 120 days after December 31, 2823-2024 . Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.
The information that is responsive to this Item 10 of Form 10- K will be included in our 2824-2025 Proxy Statement and is
incorporated herein by reference. Item 11. Executive Compensation The information that is responsive to this Item 11 of Form
10- K will be included in our 2824-2025 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference. Item 12. Security Ownership
of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters. The information that is responsive to this Item
12 of Form 10- K will be included in our 2824-2025 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference. Item 13. Certain
Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence. The information that is responsive to this Item 13 of Form
10- K will be included in our 2824-2025 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference. Item 14. Principal Accounting
Fees and Services. The information that is responsive to this Item 14 of Form 10- K will be included in our 2624-2025 Proxy
Statement and is incorporated herein by reference. PART IV Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules. (a) List the
following documents filed as a part of the report: (1) Financial Statements: Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting
Firm (PCAOB ID: 42) Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2822-Consolidated Statements of
Operations and Comprehensive Income ( Loss ) for the Years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 ;-and 2022 and202+
Consolidated Statements of Redeemable Non- Controlling Interest and Stockholders’ Equity for the Years ended December 31,
2024, 2023 sand 2022 and2024-Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 ;and
2022 and2024-Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (2) Financial Statement Schedules. None. (3) The exhibits listed
below are filed as part of this Report are incorporated herein by reference, in each case as indicated below. Exhibit Index
Incorporated by ReferenceExhibitNumber Description Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date 2. 1 Business Combination
Agreement, dated as of September 2, 2020, by and among Kensington Capital Acquisition Corp., Kensington Capital Merger
Sub Corp. and Legacy QuantumScape. S- 4 / A 333-248930 2. 1 November 12, 2020 2. 2 Amendment No. 1 to Business
Combination Agreement, dated as of September 21, 2020, by and among Kensington Capital Acquisition Corp., Kensington
Capital Merger Sub Corp. and Legacy QuantumScape. S- 4/ A 333-248930 2. 2 November 12, 2020 3. 1 Amended and
Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company , as amended . 8-10 - k-Q 001- 39345 3. | Deeember2-July 26 , 2626
2024 3. 2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company. 8- K 001- 39345 3. 1 October 25, 2022 4. 1 Specimen Common
Stock Certificate. 8- K 001- 39345 4. 1 December 2, 2020 4. 2 Description of Securities. 10- K 001- 39345 4. 4 February 28,
202246--- 2022 10 . 1 # Collaboration Agreement, dated as of July 5, 2024, by and between QuantumScape Battery, Inc.
and PowerCo SE. 8- K 001- 39345 10. 1 July 11, 2024 10. 2 Amended and Restated Letter Eimtted-Eiability-Company
Agreement , dated as of July 5, 2024, by and among QuantumScape Battery, Inc., the Company and Volkswagen Group
of America Investments, LLC. 8- K 001- 39345 10. 2 July 11, 2024 10. 3 Joint Venture Termination and Release
Agreement, dated as of July S, 2024, by and among Volkswagen Group of America, Inc., Volkswagen Group of America
Investments, LL.C, the Company, Quantumscape Battery, Inc and QSV Operamons LLC. 8- K 001 39345 10 3 July 11,
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+o—4-FirstFetter-Agreement, dated as of September 2, 2020, by and among Kensington Capital Acquisition Corp. and the
persons named therein. 8- K 001- 39345 10. 3 September 3 2020 10 5 Lease, dated May 31, 2013, by and between SI S5,

S 4/A 333 248930

10 %4—18 November 12, 2020 10 6-8—F-rrst—Amendment to LeaseAmended—and—Restated%emt—Veﬂtu-reﬁgreemerﬁ— dated
September2+-May 19 , 2026-2014 , by and ameng-between SI 55, LLC and Legacy QuantumScape and-the-persens-nameed
therein. S- 4/ A 333- 248930 10. 22-19 November 12, 2020 10. 9Fetter-7 Lease Agreement, dated April 2 as-efDeeember7-,
2626-2021 , by-between Exeter 1710 Automation, LLC and ameng-legacy QuantumScape rthe-Registrant-and-Volkswagen
Gfeﬁp—e-f—Ameﬂea—Iﬁ-vesﬁﬁeﬁts—H:&S 1/A333- 251433 10. 34 May%(-)—Beeember—Z-S—Z—G%@—lO—l—G—Seﬂes—F—G}esmg

between Legacy QuantumScape -Battery—l-ne—and SI 55 ¥e{-ksyv=ageﬁ—6fetrp—ef—kmerrea—}m+es+ments— LLC -1-9- 8- K 001—
39345 10. %9—Febfua1=y—1 June 28, %92—3—2021 10. -1-4—I:et-ter—z°rgreemeﬁt—9 Guaranty of Lease, dated September—2—7—June 22

June 28 2021 10 2—1—10 Leaie dated November 1, 2021 by and between the 1750 Landlord and the Company 8 K 001- 39345
10. 1 November 5, 2021 10. 22-11 Lease, dated November 1, 2021 by and between the 1756 / 62 Landlord and the Company 8-

Legacy QuantumScape to Tlmothy Holme dated January 1, 2011 S-4/A 333 248930 10. 13 November 12,2020 10. 26-13
Offer Letter from Legacy QuantumScape to Kevin Hettrich, dated October 11, 2011. S-4/ A 333-248930 10. 14 November 12,
2020 10. 2%14 Offer Letter from Legacy QuantumScape to Michael McCarthy, dated December 21, 2012. S-4 / A 333- 248930
10. 16 November 12, 2020 10. 28-15 Offer Letter from Legacy QuantumScape to Mohit Singh, dated April 3, 2013. S-4/A
333- 248930 10. 17 November 12, 2020 10. 28-16 Offer Letter from QuantumScape Battery, Inc. to Srinivasan Sivaram 10- Q
001- 39345 10. 2 October 27,2023 10. 38-17 Form of Indemnification Agreement by and between the Registrant and its
directors and officers. 8- K 001- 39345 10. 7 December 2, 2020 10. 3+-18 The Registrant’ s 2020 Equity Incentive Plan. 8- K
001- 39345 10. 8 December 2, 2020 10. 32-19 The Registrant’ s 2020 Equity Incentive Plan — Form of Stock Option
Agreement. 8- K 001- 39345 10. 9 December 2, 2020 10. 33-20 The Registrant’ s 2020 Equity Incentive Plan — Form of
Restricted Stock Unit Agreement. 8- K 001- 39345 10. 10 December 2, 2020 10. 34-21 The Registrant’ s 2020 Equity Incentive
Plan — Form of Restricted Stock Agreement. 8- K 001- 39345 10. 11 December 2, 2020 10. 35-22 The Registrant’ s 2020
Employee Stock Purchase Plan. 8- K 001- 39345 10. 12 December 2, 2020 10. 36-23 Form of Performance Stock Option
Agreement under the Extraordinary Performance Award Program DEF 14A 001- 39345 Appendix 1 November 8, 2021 10. 3%
24 Employee Incentive Compensation Plan. 8- K 001- 39345 10. 1 March 15, 2021 10. 38-25 Form of Change in Control and
Severance Agreement. 8- K 001- 39345 10. 2 March 15, 2021 10. 39-and J.P.Morgan Securities LLC.8- K 001- 39345 1.1
February 28,202310. 2741 Distribution Agreement,dated February 28,2023,by and between QuantumScape Corporation and
Cowen and Company,LLC.8- K 001- 39345 1.2 February 28,202310. 2842 Distribution Agreement,dated February 28,2023,by
and between QuantumScape Corporation and Deutsche Bank Securities Inc.8- K 001- 39345 1.3 February 28,202310. 2943
Distribution Agreement,dated February 28,2023 ,by and between QuantumScape Corporation and UBS Securities LLC.8- K
001-393451.4 Febmaly 28, %92—3—1—9—~ 202321 ~The Reglqtrant S Out%lde Dlrector Compenqatlon Policy 19 +6—Q-66+-39345
10-. 1 * 2-Ma 3 ee e weerrQuantumScape Corporation
Insider Tradlng Pollcy 21 and J. P Morgan Securltles ...... L. 4 F ebruary 28 202321 1 * List of Subsidiaries of the Registrant
23. 1 * Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, Ernst & Young LLP. 24. 1 * Power of Attorney (included in
signature page). 31. 1 * Rule 13a- 14 (a) / 15 (d)- 14 (a) Certification of Principal Executive Officer. 31. 2 * Rule 13a- 14 (a) /
15 (d)- 14 (a) Certification of Principal Financial Officer. 32. 1 § Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.
S. C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002. 32. 2 § Certification of Principal
Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002.




97. 1 #Compensation Recovery Policy 10- K 001- 39345 97. 1 February 27,2024 101. INS Inline XBRL Instance Document —
the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL
document. 101. SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema With Embedded Linkbases Document Cover Page Interactive
Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document) * Filed herewith. | These exhibits are furnished with this Annual
Report on Form 10- K and are not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and are not incorporated by
reference in any filing of QuantumScape Corporation under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended, whether made before or after the date hereof and irrespective of any general incorporation language
contained in such filings. # Portions of this exhibit have been omitted in accordance with Item 601 of Regulation S- K. Indicates
a management or compensatory plan. Item 16. Form 10- K Summary SIGNATURES Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13
or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Registrant has duly caused this Report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. QuantumScape Corporation Date: February 2726 , 2624-2025 By: / s/
Siva Sivaram Siva Sivaram President and Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints
Siva Sivaram and Kevin Hettrich, and each of them or his attorney- in- fact, each with the power of substitution, for him in any
and all capacities, to sign any amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10- K, and to file the same, with exhibits thereto and
other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming all
that each of said attorneys- in- fact, or his substitutes, may do or cause to be done by virtue of hereof. Pursuant to the
requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this Report has been signed below by the following persons
on behalf of the Registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated. Name Title Date / s / Siva Sivaram President, Chief
Executive Officer and Director February 2726 , 2025Siva 2624-Stva-Sivaram (Principal Executive Officer) /s / Kevin Hettrich
Chief Financial Officer February 2726 , 2024kevin-2025Kevin Hettrich (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) £#s+
FrankBlomeDireetor February272024FrankBlome-/ s / Brad Buss Director February 27-26 , 2624Brad-2025Brad Buss /s /
Jeneanne Hanley Director February 27-26 , 2024Jeneanne-2025Jeneanne Hanley / s / Susan Huppertz Director February 2726 ,
2024Susan-2025Susan Huppertz /s / Jurgen Leohold Director February 2726 , 2024Firgen-2025Jiirgen Lecohold /s / Gena
Lovett Director February 27-26 , 2024Genra-2025Gena Lovett / s / Giinther Mendl Director February 26, 2025Giinther
Mendl / s / Fritz Prinz Director February 2726 , 2024Fritz-2025Fritz Prinz / s / Sebastian Schebera Director February 26,
2025Sebastian Schebera / s / Dipender Saluja Director February 27-26 , 2624Dipender-2025Dipender Saluja / s / Jagdeep
Singh-Dennis Segers Director February 27-26 , 2624Fagdeep-Singh-2025Dennis Segers / s / JB Straubel Director February 27
26 , 26243B-2025 JB Straubel Exhibit 10. 30 QUANTUMSCAPE CORPORATION AMENDED AND RESTATED
OUTSIDE DIRECTOR COMPENSATION POLICY QuantumScape Corporation (the “ Company ”) believes that
providing cash and equity compensation to its members of the Board of Directors (the “ Board, ” and members of the
Board, the “ Directors ) represents an effective tool to attract, retain and reward Directors who are not employees of the
Company (the “ Outside Directors ). This Outside Director Compensation Policy (the “ Policy ”) is intended to
formalize the Company’ s policy regarding the compensation to its Outside Directors. Unless otherwise defined herein,
capitalized terms used in this Policy will have the meaning given to such terms in the Company’ s 2020 Equity Incentive
Plan (the “ Plan ), or if the Plan is no longer in place, the meaning given to such terms or any similar terms in the equity
plan then in place. Each Outside Director will be solely responsible for any tax obligations incurred by such Outside
Director as a result of the equity and cash payments such Outside Director receives under this Policy. Subject to Section
7 of this Policy, this Policy, originally approved by the Board on March 10, 2021 and subsequently amended and restated
on April 21, 2022, and on February 15, 2024, and is further amended and restated as set forth herein as approved by the
Board on February 6, 2025 and effective as of January 1, 2025 (such date, the “ Effective Date ). 1. Cash Compensation
Annual Cash Retainer Each Outside Director will be paid an annual cash retainer of $ 80, 000. There are no per -
meeting attendance fees for attending Board meetings. This cash compensation will be paid quarterly in arrears on a
prorated basis. Committee Annual Cash Retainer Effective as of the Effective Date, each Outside Director who serves as
chair of the Board, lead independent director, or the chair or a member of a committee of the Board listed below will be
eligible to earn additional annual cash fees (paid quarterly in arrears on a prorated basis) as follows: Chair of the Board
of Directors: $ 75, 000 Lead Independent Director (if any): $ 22, 000 Chair of Audit Committee: $ 25, 000 Member of
Audit Committee: $ 12, 500 Chair of Compensation Committee: $ 18, 000 Member of Compensation Committee: $ 9,
000 Chair of Nominating Committee: $ 13, 000 Member of Nominating Committee: $ 6, S00 For clarity, each Outside
Director who serves as the chair of a committee shall receive only the additional annual cash fee as the chair of the
committee, and not the additional annual cash fee as a member of the committee. 2. Equity Compensation Outside
Directors will be eligible to receive all types of Awards (except Incentive Stock Options) under the Plan (or the applicable
equity plan in place at the time of grant), including discretionary Awards not covered under this Policy. All grants of
Awards to Outside Directors pursuant to Section 2 of this Policy will be automatic and nondiscretionary, except as
otherwise provided herein, and will be made in accordance with the following provisions: (a) No Discretion. No person
will have any discretion to select which Outside Directors will be granted any Awards under this Policy or to determine
the number of Shares to be covered by such Awards. (b) Initial Award. Each Outside Director joining the Board after
the Effective Date shall be automatically granted the following awards upon first joining the Board (such date, the «
Start Date ): (i) Standard Initial Award. An award of Restricted Stock Units with a Value (as defined below) of $ 320,
000 (the “ Initial Award ). The Initial Award will vest as to 1 / 12 of the Shares quarterly over approximately three
years (on each Quarterly Vesting Date after the date 3- months after the Start Date), subject to the Outside Director
continuing to be a Service Provider through the applicable vesting date. (ii) Pro- Rated Annual Award. An Outside
Director will only receive an Award under this Section 2 (b) (ii) (a “ Pro- Rated Annual Award ”) if the Start Date is not



on the date of an Annual Meeting (as defined below). If the Outside Director’ s Start Date is on the same date as an
Annual Meeting, then the Directors shall receive the Annual Award described in Section 2 (c) and no Pro- Rated Annual
Award. If an Outside Director is eligible for a Pro- Rated Annual Award, then the Outside Director shall be
automatically granted on the Start Date an award of Restricted Stock Units with a Value of (x) $ 200, 000 multiplied by
(y) the fraction obtained by dividing (A) the number of full months during the period beginning on the Start Date and
ending on the one- year anniversary of the date of the then- most recent Annual Meeting by (B) 12. The Pro- Rated
Annual Award will vest on the earlier of the one- year anniversary of the grant date or the day before the next Annual
Meeting, subject to the Outside Director continuing to be a Service Provider. For the avoidance of doubt, if an individual
was a member of the Board and also an employee, becoming an Outside Director due to termination of employment will
not entitle the Outside Director to an Initial Award or a Pro- Rated Annual Award under Section 2 (b). Such an Outside
Director would receive an Annual Awards under Section 2 (c). (¢) Annual Award. On the date of each annual meeting of
the Company’ s stockholders following the Effective Date (each, an “ Annual Meeting ), each Outside Director will be
automatically granted an award of restricted stock units (an “ Annual Award ) covering a number of Shares having a
Value of $ 200, 000. Subject to Section 3 of this Policy, each Annual Award will vest on the earlier of the one- year
anniversary of the grant date or the day before the next Annual Meeting, subject to the Outside Director continuing to be
a Service Provider. (d) For purposes of Section 2, the “ Value ” of a Share is twenty (20) trading day volume weighted
average stock price for the twenty trading days prior to the applicable grant date (e. g., for the Annual Award, this will
be the date of the Annual Meeting). (e) For purposes of Section 2, the Company’ s “ Quarterly Vesting Dates > are each
of February 15, May 15, August 15, and November 15. 2 3. Change in Control In the event of a Change in Control, each
Outside Director’ s outstanding Company equity awards will accelerate and vest. 4. Limitations Any cash compensation
and Awards granted to an Outside Director shall be subject to the limits provided in Section 11 of the Plan. 5. Travel
Expenses Each Outside Director’ s reasonable, customary and documented travel expenses to Board or Board
committee meetings will be reimbursed by the Company. For the avoidance of doubt, such reimbursements will not be
treated as cash compensation subject to Section 4 of this Policy. 6. Additional Provisions All provisions of the Plan not
inconsistent with this Policy will apply to Awards granted to Outside Directors. 7. Section 409A In no event will cash
compensation or expense reimbursement payments under this Policy be paid after the later of (i) 15th day of the 3rd
month following the end of the Company’ s fiscal year in which the compensation is earned or expenses are incurred, as
applicable, or (ii) 15th day of the 3rd month following the end of the calendar year in which the compensation is earned
or expenses are incurred, as applicable, in compliance with the “ short- term deferral ” exception under Section 409A of
the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the final regulations and guidance thereunder, as may be amended
from time to time (together, “ Section 409A *). It is the intent of this Policy that this Policy and all payments hereunder
be exempt from or otherwise comply with the requirements of Section 409A so that none of the compensation to be
provided hereunder will be subject to the additional tax imposed under Section 409A, and any ambiguities or ambiguous
terms herein will be interpreted to be so exempt or comply. In no event will the Company reimburse an Outside Director
for any taxes imposed or other costs incurred as a result of Section 409A. 8. Revisions The Board may amend, alter,
suspend or terminate this Policy at any time and for any reason. No amendment, alteration, suspension or termination of
this Policy will materially impair the rights of an Outside Director with respect to compensation that already has been
paid or awarded, unless otherwise mutually agreed between the Outside Director and the Company. Termination of this
Policy will not affect the Board’ s or the Compensation Committee’ s ability to exercise the powers granted to it under
the Plan with respect to Awards granted under the Plan pursuant to this Policy prior to the date of such termination. * *
* Exhibit 19. 1 Effective November 25th, 2020 Amended on June 14th, 2021 Amended on July 22nd, 2021 Amended on
February 9th, 2023 INSIDER TRADING POLICY A. POLICY OVERVIEW QuantumScape Corporation (together
with any subsidiaries, collectively the “ Company ) has adopted this Insider Trading Policy (the *“ Policy ) to help you
comply with the federal and state securities laws and regulations that govern trading in securities and to help the
Company minimize its own legal and reputational risk. It is your responsibility to understand and follow this Policy.
Insider trading is illegal and a violation of this Policy. In addition to your own liability for insider trading, the Company,
as well as individual directors, officers and other supervisory personnel, could face liability. Even the appearance of
insider trading can lead to government investigations or lawsuits that are time- consuming, expensive and can lead to
criminal and civil liability, including damages and fines, imprisonment and bars on serving as an officer or director of a
public company, not to mention irreparable damage to both your and the Company’ s reputation. For purposes of this
Policy, the Company’ s Chief Legal Officer serves as the Compliance Officer. The Compliance Officer may designate
others, from time to time, to assist with the execution of his or her duties under this Policy. B. POLICY STATEMENT 1.
No Trading on Material Nonpublic Information. It is illegal for anyone to trade in securities on the basis of material
nonpublic information. If you are in possession of material nonpublic information about the Company, you are
prohibited from: a. using it to transact in securities of the Company; b. disclosing it to other directors, officers,
employees, consultants, advisors, contractors, agents or other service providers whose roles do not require them to have
the information; c. disclosing it to anyone outside of the Company, including family, friends, business associates,
investors or consulting firms, without prior written authorization from the Compliance Officer; or d. using it to express
an opinion or make a recommendation about trading in the Company’ s securities. In addition, material nonpublic
information about another company that you learn through your service with the Company is subject to these same
restrictions around disclosure and trading and you cannot use that information to trade securities. Any such action will
be deemed a violation of this Policy. 2. No Disclosure of Confidential Information. You may not at any time disclose
material nonpublic information about the Company or about another company that you obtained in connection with



your service with the Company to friends, family members or any other person or entity that the Company has not
authorized to know such information. In addition, you must handle the confidential information of others in accordance
with any related non- disclosure agreements and other obligations that the Company has with them and limit your use of
the confidential information to the purpose for which it was disclosed. If you receive an inquiry for information from
someone outside of the Company, such as a stock analyst, or a request for sensitive information outside the ordinary
course of business from someone outside of the Company, such as a business partner, vendor, supplier or salesperson,
then you should refer the inquiry to the Compliance Officer. Responding to a request yourself may violate this Policy
and, in some circumstances, the law. Please consult the Company’ s External Communications Policy for more details. 3.
Definition of Material Nonpublic Information. “ Material information ” means information that a reasonable investor
would be substantially likely to consider important in deciding whether to buy, hold or sell securities of the Company or
view as significantly altering the total mix of information available in the marketplace about the Company as an issuer of
the securities. In general, any information that could reasonably be expected to affect the market price of a security is
likely to be material. Either positive or negative information may be material. It is not possible to define all categories of
“ material ” information. However, some examples of information that could be regarded as material include, but are
not limited to: a. financial results, key metrics, financial condition, earnings pre- announcements, guidance, projections
or forecasts, particularly if inconsistent with the Company’ s guidance or the expectations of the investment community;
b. restatements of financial results, or material impairments, write- offs or restructurings; c. changes in independent
auditors, or notification that the Company may no longer rely on an audit report; d. business plans or budgets; e.
creation of significant financial obligations, or any significant default under or acceleration of any financial obligation; f.
impending bankruptcy or financial liquidity problems; g. significant developments involving business relationships,
including execution, modification or termination of significant agreements or orders with customers, suppliers,
distributors, manufacturers or other business partners; h. significant information relating to the operation of product or
service, such as new products or services, major modifications or performance issues, defects or recalls, significant
pricing changes or other announcements of a significant nature; i. significant developments in research and development
or relating to intellectual propertys; j. significant legal or regulatory developments, whether positive or negative, actual or
threatened, including litigation or resolving litigation; k. major events involving the Company’ s securities, including
calls of securities for redemption, adoption of stock repurchase programs, option repricings, stock splits, changes in
dividend policies, public or private securities offerings, modification to the rights of security holders or notice of
delisting;- 2- 1. significant corporate events, such as a pending or proposed merger, joint venture or tender offer, a
significant investment, the acquisition or disposition of a significant business or asset or a change in control of the
Company; m. major personnel changes, such as changes in senior management or employee layoffs; n. data breaches or
other cybersecurity events; o. updates regarding any prior material disclosure that has materially changed; and p. the
existence of a special blackout period. “ Material nonpublic information ” means material information that is not
generally known or made available to the public. Even if information is widely known throughout the Company, it may
still be nonpublic. Generally, in order for information to be considered public, it must be made generally available
through media outlets or SEC filings. After the release of information, a reasonable period of time must elapse in order
to provide the public an opportunity to absorb and evaluate the information provided. As a general rule, at least two full
trading days must pass after the dissemination of information before such information is considered public. As a rule of
thumb, if you think something might be material nonpublic information, it probably is. You can always reach out to the
Compliance Officer if you have questions. C. PERSONS COVERED BY THIS POLICY This Policy applies to you if you
are a director, officer, employee, consultant, advisor, contractor, agent or other service provider (for example, auditor or
attorney) of the Company, both inside and outside of the United States. To the extent applicable to you, this Policy also
covers your immediate family members, persons with whom you share a household, persons who are your economic
dependents and any entity whose transactions in securities you influence, direct or control. You are responsible for
making sure that these other individuals and entities comply with this Policy. This Policy continues to apply even if you
leave the Company or are otherwise no longer affiliated with or providing services to the Company, for as long as you
remain in possession of material nonpublic information. In addition, if you are subject to a trading blackout under this
Policy at the time you leave the Company, you must abide by the applicable trading restrictions until at least the end of
the relevant blackout period. D. TRADING COVERED BY THIS POLICY Except as discussed in Section H (Exceptions
to Trading Restrictions), this Policy applies to all transactions involving the Company’ s securities or other companies’
securities for which you possess material nonpublic information obtained in connection with your service with the
Company. This Policy therefore applies to: 1. any purchase, sale, loan or other transfer or disposition of any equity
securities (including common stock, options, restricted stock units, warrants and preferred stock) and debt securities
(including debentures, bonds and notes) of the Company and such other companies, whether direct or indirect (including
transactions made on your behalf by money managers), and any offer to engage in the foregoing transactions; 2. any
disposition in the form of a gift of any securities of the Company; 3. any distribution to holders of interests in an entity if
the entity is subject to this Policy; and 4. any other arrangement that generates gains or losses from or based on changes
in the prices of such securities including derivative securities (for example, exchange- traded put or call options, swaps,
caps and collars), hedging and pledging transactions, short sales and certain arrangements regarding participation in
benefit plans, and any offer to engage in the foregoing transactions.- 3- There are no exceptions from insider trading
laws or this Policy based on the size of the transaction or the type of consideration received. E. TRADING
RESTRICTIONS Subject to the exceptions set forth below, this Policy restricts trading during certain periods and by
certain people as follows: 1. Quarterly Blackout Periods. Except as discussed in Section H (Exceptions to Trading



Restrictions), all directors, officers and employees of the Company and those consultants, advisors, contractors, agents
and other service providers identified by the Company must refrain from conducting transactions involving the
Company’ s securities during quarterly blackout periods. To the extent applicable to you, quarterly blackout periods
also cover your immediate family members, persons with whom you share a household, persons who are your economic
dependents, and any entity whose transactions in securities you influence, direct or control. Even if you are not
specifically identified as being subject to quarterly blackout periods, you should exercise caution when engaging in
transactions during quarterly blackout periods because of the heightened risk of insider trading exposure. Quarterly
blackout periods will start at the end of the fifteenth day of the third month of each fiscal quarter and will end at the
start of the third full trading day following the date of public disclosure of the financial results for that fiscal quarter.
The prohibition against trading during the blackout period also means that brokers cannot fulfill open orders on your
behalf or on behalf of your immediate family members, persons with whom you share a household, persons who are your
economic dependents, or any entity whose transactions in securities you influence, direct or control, during the blackout
period, including “ limit orders ” to buy or sell stock at a specific price or better and “ stop orders ” to buy or sell stock
once the price of the stock reaches a specified price. If you are subject to blackout periods or pre- clearance
requirements, you should so inform any broker with whom such an open order is placed at the time it is placed. From
time to time, the Company may identify other persons who should be subject to quarterly blackout periods, and the
Compliance Officer may update and revise Schedule I as appropriate. 2. Special Blackout Periods. The Company always
retains the right to impose additional or longer trading blackout periods at any time on any or all of its directors,
officers, employees, consultants, advisors, contractors, agents and other service providers. The Compliance Officer will
notify you if you are subject to a special blackout period by providing to you a notice in writing or by email. If you are
notified that you are subject to a special blackout period, you may not engage in any transaction involving the Company’
s securities until the special blackout period has ended other than the transactions that are covered by the exceptions
below. You also may not disclose to anyone else that the Company has imposed a special blackout period. To the extent
applicable to you, special blackout periods also cover your immediate family members, persons with whom you share a
household, persons who are your economic dependents, and any entity whose transactions in securities you influence,
direct or control. F. PROHIBITED TRANSACTIONS You may not engage in any of the following types of transactions
other than as noted below, regardless of whether you have material nonpublic information or not. 1. Short Sales. You
may not engage in short sales (meaning the sale of a security that must be borrowed to make delivery) or “ sell short
against the box ” (meaning the sale of a security with a delayed delivery) if such sales involve the Company’ s securities.-
4- 2. Derivative Securities and Hedging Transactions. You may not, directly or indirectly, (a) trade in publicly- traded
options, such as puts and calls, and other derivative securities with respect to the Company’ s securities (other than stock
options, restricted stock units and other compensatory awards issued to you by the Company) or (b) purchase financial
instruments (including prepaid variable forward contracts, equity swaps, collars and exchange funds), or otherwise
engage in transactions, that hedge or offset, or are designed to hedge or offset, any decrease in the market value of
Company equity securities either (i) granted to you by the Company as part of your compensation or (ii) held, directly or
indirectly, by you. 3. Pledging Transactions. You may not pledge the Company’ s securities as collateral for any loan or
as part of any other pledging transaction. 4. Margin Accounts. You may not hold the Company’ s common stock in
margin accounts. G. PRE- CLEARANCE OF TRADES The Company’ s directors, officers, employees and any other
persons identified on Schedule I of this Policy as being subject to pre- clearance requirements must obtain pre- clearance
prior to trading the Company’ s securities. From time to time, the Company may identify other persons who should be
subject to the pre- clearance requirements, and the Compliance Officer may update and revise Schedule I as
appropriate. If you are subject to pre- clearance requirements, you should submit a pre- clearance request substantially
in the form attached as Exhibit A, or as provided by the Compliance Officer, to the Compliance Officer at least one
business days prior to your desired trade date. The person requesting pre- clearance will be asked to certify that he or
she is not in possession of material nonpublic information about the Company. The Compliance Officer is under no
obligation to approve a transaction submitted for pre- clearance and may determine not to permit the transaction. If the
Compliance Officer is the requester, then the Company’ s Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, or their
delegate, must pre- clear or deny any trade. All trades must be executed within five business days of any pre- clearance.
Even after preclearance, a person may not trade the Company’ s securities if they become subject to a blackout period or
aware of material nonpublic information prior to the trade being executed. H. EXCEPTIONS TO TRADING
RESTRICTIONS There are no unconditional “ safe harbors ” for trades made at particular times, and all persons
subject to this Policy should exercise good judgment at all times. Even when a quarterly blackout period is not in effect,
you may be prohibited from engaging in transactions involving the Company’ s securities because you possess material
nonpublic information, are subject to a special blackout period or are otherwise restricted under this Policy. The
following are certain limited exceptions to the quarterly and special blackout period restrictions and pre- clearance
requirements imposed by the Company under this Policy: 1. stock option exercises where the purchase price of such
stock options is paid in cash and there is no other associated market activity; 2. receipt and vesting of stock options,
restricted stock units, restricted stock or other equity compensation awards from the Company; 3. purchases pursuant
to the employee stock purchase plan; however, this exception does not apply to subsequent sales of the shares; 4. net
share withholding with respect to equity awards where shares are withheld by the Company in order to satisfy tax
withholding requirements, (x) as permitted by either the Company’ s board of directors (or a committee thereof) or the
award agreement governing such equity award or (y) as you elect, if permitted by the Company, so long as your election
is irrevocable and made in writing at a time when a trading blackout is not in place and you are not in possession of



material nonpublic information;- S- 5. sell to cover transactions, where shares are withheld by the Company upon
vesting of equity awards and sold in order to satisfy tax withholding requirements, (x) as permitted by either the
Company’ s board of directors (or a committee thereof) or the award agreement governing such equity award or (y) as
you elect, if permitted by the Company, so long as the election is irrevocable and made in writing at a time when a
trading blackout is not in place and you are not in possession of material nonpublic information; however, this exception
does not apply to any other market sale for the purposes of paying required withholding; 6. transactions made pursuant
to a valid 10b5- 1 trading plan approved by the Company (see Section I — 10bS- 1 Trading Plans below); 7. transfers by
will or the laws of descent or distribution and, provided that prior written notice is provided to the Compliance Officer,
distributions or transfers (such as certain tax planning or estate planning transfers) that effect only a change in the form
of beneficial interest in the Company’ s securities and there is no open market sale, for example, a transfer from your
individual ownership to a trust for which you (i) are the trustee or co- trustee, (ii) have the power to appoint and remove
the trustee and / Jens—W+ese-or co- trustee (s) at any time or if the trustee and / or co- trustee (s) ceases to act, or (iii) have
the voting power with respect to the shares of the Company held by such trust; and 8. changes in the number of the
Company’ s securities you hold due to a stock split or a stock dividend that applies equally to all securities of a class, or
similar transactions. Please be aware that even if a transaction is subject to an exception to this Policy, you will need to
separately assess whether the transaction complies with applicable law. Any other Policy exceptions must be approved
by the Compliance Officer, in consultation with the Company’ s board of directors or an independent committee of the
board of directors. I. 10BS- 1 TRADING PLANS The Company permits its directors, officers and, as determined by the
Compliance Officer from time to time, certain other senior employees to adopt written 10b5- 1 trading plans in order to
mitigate the risk of trading on material nonpublic information. These plans allow for individuals to enter into a
prearranged trading plan as long as the plan is not established or modified during a blackout period or when the
individual is otherwise in possession of material nonpublic information. To be approved by the Company and qualify for
the exception to this Policy, any 10bS- 1 trading plan adopted by a director, officer or employee must be submitted to the
Compliance Officer (or his / her designee) for approval and comply with the requirements set forth in the Requirements
for Trading Plans attached as Exhibit B. If the Compliance Officer is the requester, then the Company’ s Chief
Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, or their delegate, must approve the written 10b5- 1 trading plan. J.
SECTION 16 COMPLIANCE All of the Company’ s officers and directors and certain other individuals are required to
comply with Section 16 of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 and related rules and regulations which set forth
reporting obligations, limitations on “ short swing ” transactions, which are certain matching purchases and sales of the
Company’ s securities within a six- month period, and limitations on short sales. To ensure transactions subject to
Section 16 requirements are reported on time, each person subject to these requirements must provide the Company
with detailed information (for example, trade date, number of shares, exact price, etc.) about his or her transactions
involving the Company’ s securities. Section 16 reporting persons have additional disclosure obligations with respect to
10bS- 1 plans and transactions thereunder, as set forth in Exhibit B, items 18 and 19. The Company is available to assist
in filing Section 16 reports, but the obligation to comply with Section 16 is personal. If you have any questions, you
should check with the Compliance Officer. K. VIOLATIONS OF THIS POLICY- 6- Company directors, officers,
employees, consultants, advisors, contractors, agents and other service providers who violate this Policy will be subject to
disciplinary action by the Company, including ineligibility for future Company equity or incentive programs or
termination of employment or an ongoing relationship with the Company. The Company has full discretion to determine
whether this Policy has been violated based on the information available. There are also serious legal consequences for
individuals who violate insider trading laws, including large criminal and civil fines, significant imprisonment terms and
disgorgement of any profits gained or losses avoided. You may also be liable for improper securities trading by any
person (commonly referred to as a “ tippee ) to whom you have disclosed material nonpublic information that you have
learned through your position at the Company or made recommendations or expressed opinions about securities trading
on the basis of such information. Please consult with your personal legal and financial advisors as needed. Note that the
Company’ s legal counsel, both internal and external, represent the Company and not you personally. There may be
instances where you suffer financial harm or other hardship or are otherwise required to forego a planned transaction
because of the restrictions imposed by this Policy or under securities laws. If you were aware of the material nonpublic
information at the time of the trade, it is not a defense that you did not “ use ” the information for the trade. Personal
financial emergency or other personal circumstances are not mitigating factors under securities laws and will not excuse
your failure to comply with this Policy. In addition, a blackout or trading- restricted period will not extend the term of
your options. As a consequence, you may be prevented from exercising your options by this Policy or as a result of a
blackout or other restriction on your trading, and as a result your options may expire by their term. It is your
responsibility to manage your economic interests and to consider potential trading restrictions when determining
whether to exercise your options. In such instances, the Company cannot extend the term of your options and has no
obligation or liability to replace the economic value or lost benefit to you. L. PROTECTED ACTIVITY NOT
PROHIBITED Nothing in this Policy, or any related guidelines or other documents or information provided in
connection with this Policy, shall in any way limit or prohibit you from engaging in any of the protected activities set
forth in the Company’ s Whistleblower Policy, as amended from time to time. M. REPORTING If you believe someone
is violating this Policy or otherwise using material nonpublic information that they learned through their position at the
Company to trade securities, you should report it to the Compliance Officer or if the Compliance Officer is implicated in
your report, then you should report it in accordance with the Company’ s Whistleblower Policy. N. AMENDMENTS
The Company reserves the right to amend this Policy at any time, for any reason, subject to applicable laws, rules and



regulations, and with or without notice, although it will attempt to provide notice in advance of any change. Unless
otherwise permitted by this Policy, any amendments must be approved by the Board of Bireetor-Directors of the
Company.- 7- SCHEDULE I PERSONS SUBJECT TO QUARTERLY BLACKOUT PERIODS, PRE- CLEARANCE
REQUIREMENTS AND SECTION 16 REPORTING AND LIABILITY PROVISIONS 1. DIRECTORS Name Subject
to QuarterlyBlackout? (Y / N) Subject to Pre- ClearanceRequirements? (Y / N) Subject to Section16? (Y / N) All
Directors Y Y Y2. OFFICERS (including officers who are also directors) Name Subject to QuarterlyBlackout? (Y /N)
Subject to Pre- ClearanceRequirements? (Y / N) Subject to Section16? (Y / N) Section 16 Officers Y Y YNon- Section 16
Officers Y Y N3. OTHERS Name Subject to QuarterlyBlackout? (Y / N) Subject to Pre- ClearanceRequirements? (Y /
N) Subject to Section16? (Y / N) All employees or consultants at seniordirector or officer level Y Y NOther employees
orconsultants Y N NAIl beneficial owners of more than 10 % theCompany’ s equity securities N N YEXHIBIT A PRE-
CLEARANCE CHECKLIST Person proposing to trade: Proposed trade (type and amount): Manner of trade / Name of
brokerage: Proposed trade date: Affiliate of the Company: Yes No I am not aware of material nonpublic information
regarding the Company; or I am relying on an explicit exemption to the Company’ s blackout period restrictions as
listed in Section H. of the Insider Trading Policy to execute the transaction described above. I am not trading on the basis
of any material nonpublic information. The transaction is in accordance with the Insider Trading Policy and applicable
law. I intend to comply with any applicable reporting and disclosure requirements on a timely basis. I understand that 1
must execute the transaction within five business days of the date on which the trade is cleared by the Compliance
Officer. I understand that by signing below, I am not obligated to execute the transaction. Date: (Signature of person
proposing to trade) For Company Compliance Officer Use Only: No blackout period. The proposed trade will not be
made during a quarterly or special blackout period. No pension fund blackout under Regulation BTR. * There is no
pension fund blackout period in effect. No prohibition under Insider Trading Policy. The person confirmed that the
proposed transaction is not prohibited under the Insider Trading Policy. Section 16 compliance. * The person confirmed
that the proposed trade will not give rise to any potential liability under Section 16 as a result of matched past (or
intended future) transactions. Form 4 filing. * A Form 4 has been or will be completed and will be timely filed with the
SEC, if applicable. Rule 144 compliance (Response required only from affiliates of the Company). The “ current public
information ” requirement has been met (i. e., all 10- Ks, 10- Qs and other relevant reports during the last 12 months
have been filed); The shares that the person proposes to trade are not restricted or, if restricted, the applicable holding
period has been met; Volume limitations (greater of 1 % of outstanding securities of the same class or the average weekly
trading volume during the last four weeks) are not exceeded, and the person is not part of an aggregated group; The
manner of sale requirements will be met (a “ brokers’ transaction ” or directly with a market maker or a “ riskless
principal transaction ”’); and A Form 144, if applicable, has been completed and will be timely filed with the SEC. Rule
10b- 5 concerns. The person has been reminded that trading is prohibited when in possession of any material nonpublic
information regarding the Company that has not been adequately disclosed to the public. The individual has discussed
with the Compliance Officer any information known to the individual or the Compliance Officer that the individual
believes may be material. Exhibit A * Applies if the individual is a director or an officer subject to Section 16 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Date: (Signature of Compliance Officer) (Print name of Compliance Officer) EXHIBIT
B REQUIREMENTS FOR TRADING PLANS For transactions under a trading plan to be exempt from (A) the
prohibitions in the Company’ s Insider Trading Policy (the “ Policy ) of QuantumScape Corporation (together with any
subsidiaries, collectively the “ Company ) with respect to transactions made while aware of material nonpublic
information and (B) the pre- clearance procedures and blackout periods established under the Policy, the trading plan
must comply with the affirmative defense set forth in Exchange Act Rule 10bS- 1 and must meet the following
requirements: 1. The trading plan must be in writing and signed by the person adopting the trading plan. 2. The trading
plan must be adopted at a time when: a. the person adopting the trading plan is not aware of any material nonpublic
information; and b. there is no quarterly, special or other trading blackout in effect with respect to the person adopting
the plan. 3. The trading plan must be entered in good faith and not as part of a plan or scheme to evade the prohibitions
of Rule 10b5- 1 and the person adopting the trading plan must act in good faith with respect to the trading plan. 4. The
trading plan must include representations that, on the date of adoption of the trading plan, the person adopting the
trading plan: a. is not aware of material nonpublic information about the securities or the Company; and b. is adopting
the trading plan in good faith and not as part of a plan or scheme to evade the prohibitions of Rule 10b5- 1. S. The person
adopting the trading plan may not have entered into or altered a corresponding or hedging transaction or position with
respect to the securities subject to the trading plan and must agree not to enter into any such transaction while the
trading plan is in effect. 6. The first trade under the trading plan may not occur until the expiration of a cooling- off
period consisting of the later of (a) 30 calendar days after the adoption of the trading plan (or 90 days if the person is a
director or Section 16 officer) and (b) two business days after the filing by the Company of its financial results in a Form
10- Q or Form 10- K for the completed fiscal quarter in which the trading plan was adopted (but, in any event, this
required cooling- off period is subject to a maximum of 120 days after adoption of the trading plan). 7. The trading plan
must have a minimum term of one year (starting from the date of adoption of the trading plan). 8. All transactions
during the term of the trading plan (except for the “ Exceptions to Trading Restrictions ” identified in the Policy and
bona fide gifts) must be conducted through the trading plan. In addition, the person adopting the trading plan may not
have an outstanding (and may not subsequently enter into any additional) trading plan except for the following plans or
as otherwise permitted by Rule 10b5- 1, in any case, subject to approval by the Compliance Officer and the same
conditions as new trading plans as set forth in Sections 1 through 8 herein: a. plans with different brokers that are
identical with respect to the prices of securities to be purchased or sold, dates of the purchases or sales to be executed,



and amount of securities to be purchased or sold; b. plans that are effective at the same time so long as trading under the
later- commencing plan is not authorized to begin until after all trades under the earlier- commencing plan are
completed or expire without execution; and c. a plan for eligible sell- to- cover transactions to satisfy tax withholding
obligations arising exclusively from the vesting of a compensatory award. 9. Any modification or change to the amount,
price or timing of transactions under the trading plan is deemed the termination of the trading plan, and the adoption of
a new trading plan (“ Modification ). Therefore, a Modification is subject to the same conditions as a new trading plan
as set forth in Sections 1 through 8 herein. 10. Within the six months preceding the adoption or Modification of a trading
plan, a person may not have otherwise adopted or done a Modification to a plan more than once. 11. A person may adopt
a trading plan designed to cover a single trade only once in any consecutive 12- month period except as permitted by
Rule 10bS- 1. 12. If the person that adopted the trading plan terminates the plan prior to its stated duration, he or she
may not trade in the Company’ s securities until after the expiration of 30 calendar days following termination, and then
only in accordance with the Policy. 13. The Company must be promptly notified of any Modification or termination of
the trading plan, including any suspension of trading under the trading plan. 14. The Company must have authority to
require the suspension or cancellation of the trading plan at any time. 15. If the trading plan grants discretion to a
stockbroker or other person with respect to the execution of trades under the trading plan: a. trades made under the
trading plan must be executed by someone other than the stockbroker or other person that executes trades in other
securities for the person adopting the trading plan; b. the person adopting the trading plan may not confer with the
person administering the trading plan regarding the Company or its securities; and c. the person administering the
trading plan must provide prompt notice to the Company of the execution of a transaction pursuant to the plan. 16. All
transactions under the trading plan must be in accordance with applicable law. 17. The trading plan (including any
Modification) must meet such other requirements as the Compliance Officer may determine. 18. Any trading plans
adopted or modified prior to February 279 . 2624Jens-Wiese-2023 (the “ Effective Date ) are permitted to continue in
place until all trades are executed thereunder, or they expire or are terminated by their terms (“ Grandfathered Plans ).
If the person undertakes a Modification of a Grandfathered Plan on or after the Effective Date, then the Modification
must meet all of the requirements set forth herein. 19. Section 16 reporting persons must (a) identify on Forms 4 and S
whether a reported transaction was under a trading plan and disclose date of adoption of such plan and (b) report gifts
on Form 4 within two business days. 20. The Company will disclose in its periodic filings on forms 10- K and 10- Q any
adoptions, material amendments or termination of trading plans by Section 16 officers and directors during the
applicable reporting period, including the material terms thereof. Exhibit 21. 1 Subsidiaries of QuantumScape
CorporationName: Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Formation: QuantumScape Battery, Inc. Delaware @SV-OperattonsEEC
Belaware-QuantumScape Japan GK JapanExhibit 23. 1 We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following
Registration Statements: (1) Post- Effective Amendment No. 5 to Registration Statement (Form S- 1 on Form S- 3 No. 333-
251433) of QuantumScape Corporation, (2) Registration Statement (Form S- 3 No. 333- 262659) of QuantumScape
Corporation, (3) Registration Statement (Form S- 3 No. 333- 266419) of QuantumScape Corporation, (4) Registration Statement
(Form S- 8 No. 333- 252606) pertaining to the 2020 Equity Incentive Plan, 2020 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, and 2010
Equity Incentive Plan of QuantumScape Corporation, and-5) Registration Statement (Form S- 8 No. 333- 270117) pertaining to
the 2020 Equity Incentive Plan and 2020 Employee Stock Purchase Plan of QuantumScape Corporation , and (6) Registration
Statement (Form S- 8 No. 333- 277401) pertaining to the 2020 Equity Incentive Plan of QuantumScape Corporation ; of
our reports dated February 2726 , 2624-2025 , with respect to the consolidated financial statements of QuantumScape
Corporation and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of QuantumScape Corporation included in this
Annual Report (Form 10- K) of QuantumScape Corporation for the year ended December 31, 2023-2024 . Exhibit 31. 1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULES 13a- 14 (a) AND 15d- 14 (a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF
1934, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES- OXLEY ACT OF 2002 I, Siva Sivaram, certify
that: 1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10- K of QuantumScape Corporation; 2. Based on my knowledge, this
report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this report; 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report; 4. The registrant' s other certifying officer (s) and I are responsible for establishing and
maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15 (e) and 15d- 15 (e)) and internal
control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15 (f) and 15d- 15 (f)) for the registrant and have: (a)
Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known
to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; (b) Designed such
internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; (¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of
the registrant' s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and (d)
Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant' s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant'
s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant' s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or
is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant' s internal control over financial reporting; and 5. The registrant' s other
certifying officer (s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the



registrant' s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant' s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions): (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant' s ability to record, process, summarize and report
financial information; and (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant' s internal control over financial reporting. Date: February 2726 , 2624-2025 By: / s / Siva
Sivaram Siva Sivaram President and Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) Exhlblt 31. 2 I, Kevin Hettrich,
certify that: Date: February 27-26 , 2624-2025 By: / s / Kevin Hettrich Kevin Hettrich Chief Financial Officer (Principal
Financial and Accounting Officer) Exhibit 32. 1 18 U. S. C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES- OXLEY ACT OF 2002 In connection with the Annual Report of QuantumScape Corporation (the “
Company ) on Form 10- K for the period ended December 31, 2623-2024 as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the “ Report ), I certify, pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section
906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002, that: (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13 (a) or 15 (d) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects,
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